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UNITED STATES  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

Washington, DC 20549  

 

FORM 8-K  

CURRENT REPORT  
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934  

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported) December 1, 2010  

CARLISLE COMPANIES INCORPORATED  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  

13925 Ballantyne Corporate Place, Suite 400, Charlotte, NC 28277  
(Address of principal executive offices)  

704-501-1100  
(Registrant's telephone number)  

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of 
the following provisions:  

�  

Delaware  
(State or other jurisdiction 

 
of incorporation)   

1-9278  
(Commission  
File Number)   

31-1168055  
(IRS Employer  

Identification No.) 

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)  
 

�  Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)  
 

�  Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))  
 

�  Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))  



Item 2.01    Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets  

        On December 2, 2010, Carlisle Companies Incorporated (" Parent ") announced the successful completion of the acquisition of Hawk 
Corporation (" Hawk ") for $50.00 per share in cash, or approximately $414 million in the aggregate.  

        On November 1, 2010, HC Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (the " Purchaser "), commenced its tender offer to acquire all 
the outstanding shares of Hawk's Class A common stock (together with the associated preferred share purchase rights) (the " Shares ") at a 
purchase price of $50.00 per share, net to the seller in cash, without interest, less any applicable withholding taxes. The tender offer expired at 
12:00 midnight, New York City time, at the end of the day on Tuesday, November 30, 2010, and the depositary for the tender offer advised that, 
as of such expiration time, 7,321,448 Shares had been validly tendered and not withdrawn, representing approximately 94% of the outstanding 
Shares. All of these Shares have been accepted for payment by the Purchaser.  

        On December 1, 2010, Parent and the Purchaser effected the "short-form" merger under Delaware law of the Purchaser with and into Hawk, 
with Hawk continuing as the surviving corporation and wholly owned by Parent (the " Merger "), in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of 
Merger, dated October 14, 2010, among Parent, the Purchaser and Hawk. As a result of the purchase of Shares in the tender offer, Parent and the 
Purchaser had sufficient voting power to approve the Merger without the affirmative vote of any other stockholder of Hawk. In the Merger, each 
Share not previously purchased in the tender offer was converted, subject to appraisal rights, into the right to receive $50.00, net to the seller in 
cash, without interest, less any applicable withholding taxes.  

        As a result of the completion of the Merger, December 1, 2010, was the last day Hawk Class A common stock traded on the NYSE Amex.  

        The information included in Item 2.03 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated by reference into this Item 2.01 with respect to 
the source of funds used in the above described acquisition of Hawk.  

Item 2.03    Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of Registrant  

        On November 30, 2010, Parent initiated a borrowing under that Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 12, 
2007, among Parent and Carlisle Management Company (together with Parent, the " Borrowers "), JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as 
Administrative Agent and the Banks listed therein (the " Credit Agreement "), in an amount of $325 million to fund the acquisition of Hawk 
(the " Acquisition Loan "). The Credit Agreement provides for a $500 million revolving line of credit, of which a total of $325 million is 
currently outstanding and $144.4 million is available for additional borrowing.  

        The Credit Agreement provides for grid-based interest pricing based upon the credit rating of Parent's senior unsecured bank or other 
unsecured senior debt and the Borrowers' utilization of the revolving line of credit. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Borrowers are subject 
to certain financial covenants, including minimum consolidated total leverage ratio and minimum consolidated net worth. The leverage ratio is 
the ratio of consolidated financed liabilities to consolidated earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.  

        The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants including limitations on the ability of Parent and its subsidiaries to incur debt, make 
certain investments, make acquisitions, incur liens, dispose of assets, and make non-cash distributions to its shareholders. These limitations are 
subject to significant exceptions as set forth in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement provides for customary events of default, including 
failure to pay any principal or interest when due, failure to comply with covenants, false representations or cross defaults.  
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        In addition to JPMorgan Chase, the following lenders are parties to the Credit Agreement: Wells Fargo, Bank of America, N.A., SunTrust 
Bank, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Trust Company, Citicorp North America, Inc., Mizuho Corporate Bank (USA), BNP Paribas, Credit 
Agricole, Bank of China, New York Branch, PNC Bank and Bank Hapoalim B.M. (collectively, the " Lenders "). The following Lenders 
provide Parent general banking and/or investment advisory services: JPMorgan Chase, Wells Fargo, Bank of America, SunTrust Bank, The 
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Trust Company, Bank of China, Citicorp North America, Inc., BNP Paribas, Credit Agricole and PNC Bank. The 
Lenders and their affiliates have in the past provided, and in the future may provide, commercial banking and other services to Parent and its 
subsidiaries. Those parties have received, and may in the future receive, customary compensation for such services.  

        The foregoing description of the Credit Agreement and the Acquisition Loan is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete terms 
of the Credit Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 99.1 and incorporated herein by reference.  

Item 8.01    Other Events  

        On December 2, 2010, Parent issued a press release announcing the completion of the Merger. The press release is filed as Exhibit 99.2 and 
incorporated herein by reference.  

        In addition to other risk factors disclosed in Parent's Annual Report and Quarterly Reports filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, Parent's stockholders and investors should consider the following risk factors involved in Parent's acquisition of Hawk. Throughout 
the following risk factors, Parent is alternatively referred to " we ", " us ", and " our ".  

         We may not be able to successfully integrate Hawk.  

        Our ability to successfully implement our business plan and achieve targeted financial results is dependent on our ability to successfully 
integrate Hawk. The process of integrating Hawk involves risks. These risks include, but are not limited to:  

•  demands on management related to the increase in the size of our business;  
 

•  diversion of management's attention from the management of daily operations, and performance shortfalls as a result of the 
diversion of management's attention;  
 

•  our increased indebtedness;  
 

•  difficulties in the assimilation of different corporate cultures and business practices;  
 

•  integrating information, purchasing, accounting, finance, sales, billing, payroll and regulatory compliance systems;  
 

•  preserving customer, supplier, research and development, distribution, marketing, promotion and other important relationships;  
 

•  retaining employees that may be vital to the integration of departments, information technology systems, including accounting 
systems, technologies, books and records, and procedures, and maintaining uniform standards, such as internal accounting 
controls, procedures, and policies; and  
 

•  costs and expenses associated with any undisclosed or potential liabilities.  

        Failure to successfully integrate Hawk may result in reduced levels of revenue, earnings or operating efficiency than might have been 
achieved if we had not acquired such business. In addition, the acquisition has resulted in the incurrence of additional debt and related interest 
expense, contingent liabilities, and amortization expenses related to intangible assets, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, operating results and cash flow.  
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         We may not be able to achieve the benefits that we expect to realize as a result of the Hawk acquisition. Failure to achieve such benefits 
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.  

        We may not be able to realize anticipated cost savings, revenue enhancements or other synergies from the acquisition, either in the amount 
or within the time frame that we expect. In addition, the costs of achieving these benefits may be higher than, and the timing may differ from, 
what we expect. Our ability to realize anticipated cost savings, synergies and revenue enhancements may be affected by a number of factors, 
including, but not limited to, the following:  

•  the use of more cash or other financial resources on integration and implementation activities than we expect;  
 

•  increases in other expenses unrelated to the acquisition, which may offset the cost savings and other synergies from the 
acquisition;  
 

•  our ability to eliminate duplicative back office overhead and redundant selling, general, and administrative functions; and  
 

•  our ability to avoid labor disruptions in connection with any integration.  

        While we expect the acquisition of Hawk to create significant opportunities to reduce our combined operating costs, these cost savings 
reflect estimates and assumptions made by our management, and it is possible that our actual results will not reflect these estimates and 
assumptions within our anticipated timeframe or at all. If we fail to realize anticipated cost savings, synergies, or revenue enhancements, our 
financial results may be adversely affected, and we may not generate the cash flow from operations that we anticipate.  

         Hawk is dependent on a small number of customers for a large portion of its sales. Loss of revenue from large customers could have a 
negative impact on our combined results of operations and overall financial condition.  

        During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, Hawk's top five customers made up approximately 44.5% of its total net sales. Its largest 
customer accounted for approximately 17.3% of its total net sales in 2009. Loss of any of those customers or significant changes in prices or 
other terms with any of those customers could adversely affect our combined results of operations and financial position.  

Environmental, health and safety liabilities and requirements could require us to incur material costs.  

        We are subject to increasingly stringent environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to air emissions, wastewater 
discharges, chemical and hazardous waste management and disposal. Some of these environmental laws hold owners or operators of land or 
businesses liable for their own and for previous owners' or operators' releases of hazardous or toxic substances or wastes. Other environmental 
laws and regulations require us to obtain and comply with environmental permits. To date, our costs of complying with environmental, health 
and safety requirements have not been material. The nature of our operations and the long history of industrial activities at some of our current or 
former facilities and some of our acquired assets could expose us to potentially material environmental liabilities.  

        While we will have to comply with existing and pending climate change legislation, regulation, international treaties or accords, current law 
and regulation does not have a material impact on our business, capital expenditures or financial position. Future events, including those relating 
to climate change or greenhouse gas regulation, could require us to make additional expenditures to modify or curtail our operations, install 
pollution control equipment or investigate and cleanup contaminated sites.  
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Item 9.01    Financial Statements and Exhibits  

(a)  Financial Statements of Business Acquired  
 
(1)  Hawk's audited consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2009, the related consolidated statements of operations, 

changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2009, and the related notes to those 
financial statements are filed as Exhibit 99.3 and incorporated herein by reference.  
 

(2)  Hawk's unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2010, and the unaudited statements of operations, and 
cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related notes to those financial statements are 
filed as Exhibit 99.4 and incorporated herein by reference.  
 

(b)  Pro Forma Financial Information  
 
(1)  Unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheets of Parent and Hawk for the nine months ended September 30, 

2010, the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of earnings for the nine months ended September 30, 
2010, the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2009, and 
the related notes to those financial statements are filed as Exhibit 99.5 and incorporated herein by reference.  
 

(d)  Exhibits  
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Exhibit No.   Description 

  23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm* 
  99.1   Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2007, among 

Carlisle Companies Incorporated, Carlisle Management Company, JPMorgan Chase 
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and the Banks listed therein (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Carlisle Companies 
Incorporated on July 17, 2007). 

  99.2   Press release issued on December 2, 2010.* 
  99.3   Hawk Corporation's audited consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2009, the 

related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash 
flows for the year ended December 31, 2009, and the related notes to those financial 
statements.* 

  99.4   Hawk Corporation's unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2010, and 
the unaudited statements of operations and cash flows for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related notes to those financial statements.* 

  99.5   Unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of Carlisle Companies 
Incorporated and Hawk Corporation as of September 30, 2010, the unaudited pro forma 
condensed combined statements of earnings for the nine months ended September 30, 
2010, and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of earnings for the 
year ended December 31, 2009, and the related notes to those pro forma financial 
information.* 

*  Filed herewith.  



 
SIGNATURE  

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  
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Dated: December 6, 2010   CARLISLE COMPANIES INCORPORATED 
 
  

 
  
 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ STEVEN J. FORD  

Steven J. Ford  
Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 23.1 

  
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

   
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following documents:  
   

   
of our report dated March 10, 2010, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Hawk Corporation included in this report on Form 8-
K of Carlisle Companies Incorporated dated December 6, 2010.  
   

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
  

Cleveland, Ohio  
December 6, 2010  
   

 

Registration  
Number  

   Description of Registration Statement  
   Filing Date  

               
33-56735  

   Registration Statement of Carlisle Companies Incorporated — Form S-3  
   December 5, 1994  

               
33-56737  

   Carlisle Companies Incorporated Executive Incentive Program — Form S-8  
   December 5, 1994  

               
33-28052  

   Carlisle Companies Incorporated Executive Long-Term Incentive Program — Form S-8  
   April 20, 1988  

               
333-52411  

   Carlisle Companies Incorporated Executive Incentive Program — Form S-8  
   May 12, 1998  

               
333-49742  

   Carlisle Companies Incorporated Executive Incentive Program — Form S-8  
   November 13, 2000  

               
333-99261  

   Carlisle Companies Incorporated Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan — Form S-8  
   September 6, 2002  



 
Exhibit 99.2 

   

   

   
Carlisle Companies Incorporated Announces Completion of Acquisition of Hawk Corporation  
   
CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA, Dec. 2, 2010 — Carlisle Companies Incorporated (NYSE: CSL), today announced that it has successfully 
completed the acquisition of Hawk Corporation (NYSE Amex: HWK) by means of a short-form merger effected under Delaware law.  
   
On December 1, 2010, Carlisle announced the successful completion of the tender offer by its wholly owned subsidiary, HC Corporation, for all 
of the outstanding shares of Hawk Class A common stock (the “Shares”).  Following this announcement, on December 1, 2010, Carlisle and HC 
Corporation effected the “short-form” merger of HC Corporation with and into Hawk, with Hawk continuing as the surviving corporation and 
wholly owned by Carlisle, in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 14, 2010, among Carlisle, HC Corporation and 
Hawk.  As a result of the purchase of Shares in the tender offer, Carlisle and HC Corporation had sufficient voting power to approve the merger 
without the affirmative vote of any other stockholder of Hawk.  In the merger, each Share not previously purchased in the tender offer was 
converted, subject to appraisal rights, into the right to receive $50.00, net to the seller in cash, without interest, less any applicable withholding 
taxes.  
   
As a result of the completion of the merger, December 1, 2010, was the last day Hawk Class A common stock traded on the NYSE Amex.  
   
About Carlisle Companies Incorporated  
   
Carlisle is a diversified global manufacturing company serving the construction materials, commercial roofing, specialty tire and wheel, power 
transmission, heavy-duty brake and friction, foodservice, aerospace, and test and measurement industries.  
   
CONTACT:                                Steven J. Ford  

Vice President & Chief Financial Officer  
Carlisle Companies Incorporated  
(704) 501-1100  
http://www.carlisle.com  

   

 

PRESS RELEASE  

CSL010023  12/2/10 



 
Exhibit 99.3 

   
REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,  

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   
Shareholders and Board of Directors  
Hawk Corporation  
   
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Hawk Corporation as of December 31, 2009, and the related consolidated 
statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2009. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  
   
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of Hawk Corporation at December 31, 2009, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 
2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  
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HAWK CORPORATION  

   
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  

   
(In Thousands, except share data)  

   

Cleveland, Ohio  /s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
March 10, 2010  

   

      December 31  
   

      2009  
   

Assets  
        

Current assets:  
        

Cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 47,206 

   
Short-term investments  

   35,930 
   

Accounts receivable, less allowance of $985  
   27,578 

   
Inventories:  

        
Raw materials  

   5,503 
   

Work-in-process  
   10,886 

   
Finished products  

   11,106 
   

Total inventories  
   27,495 

   
Deferred income taxes  

   1,305 
   

Other current assets  
   5,686 

   
Total current assets  

   145,200 
   

           
Property, plant and equipment:  

        
Land and improvements  

   1,166 
   

Buildings and improvements  
   19,264 

   
Machinery and equipment  

   102,365 
   

Furniture and fixtures  
   8,327 

   
Construction in progress  

   2,186 
   

      133,308 
   

Less accumulated depreciation  
   86,212 

   
Total property, plant and equipment  

   47,096 
   

           
Other assets:  

        
Finite-lived intangible assets  

   6,015 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   289 

   
Other  

   5,892 
   

Total other assets  
   12,196 

   
Total assets  

   $ 204,492 
   



   
See notes to consolidated financial statement .  
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HAWK CORPORATION  

   
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  

   
(In Thousands, except share data)  

   

   
See notes to consolidated financial statement .  
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      December 31  
   

      2009  
   

Liabilities and shareholders’  equity  
        

Current liabilities:  
        

Accounts payable  
   $ 16,861 

   
Accrued compensation  

   7,324 
   

Accrued interest  
   3,385 

   
Accrued taxes  

   345 
   

Other accrued expenses  
   3,979 

   
Total current liabilities  

   31,894 
   

           
Long-term liabilities:  

        
Long-term debt  

   77,090 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   2,873 

   
Pension liabilities  

   2,509 
   

Other accrued expenses  
   12,656 

   
Total long-term liabilities  

   95,128 
   

           
Shareholders’  equity  

        
Series D preferred stock, $.01 par value; an aggregate liquidation value of $1,530, plus any unpaid dividends with 9.8% 

cumulative dividend (1,530 shares authorized, issued and outstanding)  
   1 

   
Series E preferred stock, $.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding  

   —
   

Class A common stock, $.01 par value; 75,000,000 shares authorized; 9,187,750 issued; 7,979,740 outstanding  
   92 

   
Class B common stock, $.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding  

   —
   

Additional paid-in capital  
   55,323 

   
Retained earnings  

   42,011 
   

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  
   (3,281 ) 

Treasury stock, at cost, 1,208,010 shares  
   (16,676 ) 

Total shareholders’  equity  
   77,470 

   
Total liabilities and shareholders’  equity  

   $ 204,492 
   



   
HAWK CORPORATION  

   
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS  

   
(In Thousands, except per share data)  

   

   
See notes to consolidated financial statement .  
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HAWK CORPORATION  

   
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

   
(In Thousands)  

   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Net sales  
   $ 172,402 

   
Cost of sales  

   124,927 
   

Gross profit  
   47,475 

   
           
Operating expenses:  

        
Selling, technical and administrative expenses  

   30,238 
   

Amortization of finite-lived intangible assets  
   553 

   
Total operating expenses  

   30,791 
   

Income from operations  
   16,684 

   
           
Interest expense  

   (8,036 ) 
Interest income  

   491 
   

Other income (expense), net  
   1,879 

   
Income from continuing operations, before income taxes  

   11,018 
   

           
Income tax provision  

   4,505 
   

           
Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   6,513 
   

Loss from discontinued operations, after income tax benefit of $70  
   (136 ) 

           
Net income  

   $ 6,377 
   

           
Earnings per share:  

        
Basic earnings per share:  

        
Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 0.77 
   

Discontinued operations, after income taxes  
   (0.01 ) 

Net earnings per basic share  
   $ 0.76 

   
           
Diluted earnings per share:  

        
Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 0.75 
   

Discontinued operations, after income taxes  
   (0.02 ) 

Net earnings per diluted share  
   $ 0.73 

   
           

Average shares outstanding - basic  
   8,242 

   
           

Average shares and equivalents outstanding - diluted  
   8,507 

   
           

Income available to common shareholders  
   $ 6,227 

   

                              
Accumulated Other Comprehensive  

(Loss) Income  
               

      

Preferred 
 

Stock  
   

Common 
Stock  

   

Additional  
Paid-in  
Capital  

   

Retained  
Earnings  
(Deficit)  

   

Foreign  
Currency  

Translation 
   

Change in  
Pension  
Liability  

   

Unrealized Gain 
/ Loss on  

Marketable  
Securities  

   
Treasury  

Stock  
   Total  

   
Balance at January 1, 2009  

   $ 1 
   $ 92 

   $  54,738 
   $ 35,784 

   $ 2,943 
   $ (11,196 )  $ 21 

   $ (4,992 )  $ 77,391 
   

Net income  
   —

   —
   —

   6,377 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   6,377 

   
Other comprehensive income (loss):  
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HAWK CORPORATION  

   
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

   
(In Thousands)  

   

   

Change in funded status of pensions, net 
of tax of $2,159  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   3,800 

   —
   —

   3,800 
   

Unrealized loss on marketable 
securities, net of tax of $16  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   (28 )  —
   (28 )  

Foreign currency translation  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   1,253 

   (74 )  —
   —

   1,179 
   

Total comprehensive income  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   4,951 

   
Preferred stock dividends  

   —
   —

   —
   (150 )  —

   —
   —

   —
   (150 )  

Share based compensation  
   —

   —
   931 

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   931 

   
Stock repurchase  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   (12,632 )  (12,632 )  

Tax benefit from exercise of incentive 
stock options  

   —
   —

   116 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   116 
   

Issuance of common stock from treasury as 
compensation and exercise of stock 
options  

   —
   —

   (462 )  —
   —

   —
   —

   948 
   486 

   
Balance at December 31, 2009  

   $ 1 
   $ 92 

   $  55,323 
   $ 42,011 

   $ 4,196 
   $ (7,470 )  $ (7 )  $ (16,676 )  $ 77,470 

   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Cash flows from operating activities  
        

Net income  
   $ 6,377 

   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  

        
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax  

   136 
   

Depreciation and amortization  
   8,070 

   
Deferred income taxes  

   1,600 
   

Amortization of discount on investments  
   (225 ) 

Loss on sale or disposal of fixed assets  
   70 

   
Write-off of deferred financing fees  

   177 
   

Stock option expense  
   931 

   
Changes in operating assets and liabilites:  

        
Accounts receivable  

   11,126 
   

Inventories  
   13,957 

   
Other assets  

   (1,907 ) 
Accounts payable  

   (12,834 ) 
Accrued expenses  

   (8,011 ) 
Pension accounts, net  

   (2,906 ) 
Other  

   2,611 
   

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations  
   19,172 

   
Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations  

   (136 ) 
           
Cash flows from investing activities  

        
Purchases of available for sale securities  

   (173,837 ) 
Proceeds from available for sale securities  

   168,997 
   

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  
   (7,518 ) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  
   11 

   
Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations  

   (12,347 ) 
           
Cash flows from financing activities  

        
Payments on long-term debt  

   (10,000 ) 
Proceeds from stock options  

   436 
   

Stock repurchase  
   (12,632 ) 

Receipts from government grants  
   325 

   
Payments of deferred financing fees  

   (340 ) 
Tax benefit from exercise of incentive stock options  

   116 
   

Payments of preferred stock dividends  
   (150 ) 

Net cash used in financing activities of continuing operations  
   (22,245 ) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  
   242 

   
Net cash used in continuing operations  

   (15,178 ) 
Net cash used in discontinued operations  

   (136 ) 
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  

   (15,314 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  

   62,520 
   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  
   $ 47,206 
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HAWK CORPORATION  

   
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

   
(In Thousands)  
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HAWK CORPORATION  

   
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT  

   
December 31, 2009  

(In Thousands, except share data)  
   

1.                                       Basis of Presentation  
   
Hawk Corporation, through its friction products segment, designs, engineers, manufactures and markets specialized components used in 

a variety of off-highway, on-highway, industrial, aircraft, agricultural and performance applications.  
   
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant 

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying financial statement.  
   
2.  Significant Accounting Policies  
   
Use of Estimates  

   
The preparation of financial statement in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 

estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying financial statement and notes. Actual results could 
differ from those amounts.  

   
Cash Equivalents  

   
The Company considers all highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with a maturity of three months or less when 

purchased to be cash equivalents.  Cash equivalents at December 31, 2009 consist of various money market funds.  The carrying amount of cash 
and cash equivalents approximates its fair value due to their short maturities.  

   
Short-term Investments  

   
The Company defines short-term investments as income yielding securities that can be readily converted into cash.  Short-term investments 

at December 31, 2009 consist primarily of U.S. Treasury and agency obligations and various issues of A1+/P1 rated corporate commercial 
paper.  The Company’s short-term investments are classified as available for sale and contractual maturities for all such securities at 
December 31, 2009 were within one year.  Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses, net of 
tax, included in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.  

   
Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

   
The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, short and long-term investments, short-term trade receivables, 

short and long-term notes receivable, accounts payable, deferred compensation plan liabilities and debt instruments. Because of their short 
maturity, the historical carrying value of short-term financial instruments approximates fair value. Fair values for long-term financial instruments 
that are not readily determinable are estimated based upon the discounted future cash flows at prevailing market interest rates.  Fair value of 
long-term debt is based on quoted market prices.  

   
Trade Receivables  

   
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses from the failure of our customers to make required 

payments for products delivered.  The Company estimates this allowance based on the age of the related receivable, knowledge of the financial 

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Supplemental cash flow information  
        

Cash payments for interest  
   $ 8,082 

   
Cash payments for taxes  

   $ 6,606 
   

Cash refunds for taxes  
   $ (216 ) 

Noncash investing and financing activities:  
        

Tax benefit from exercise of incentive stock options  
   $ 116 

   



condition of its customers, review of historical receivable and reserve trends and other pertinent information.  If the financial condition of 
the Company’s customers deteriorates or it experiences an unfavorable trend in receivable collections in the future, additional allowances may be 
required.  Historically, the Company’s reserves have approximated actual experience.  
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Inventories  

   
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.  Cost includes materials, labor and overhead and is determined by the first-in, first-out 

(FIFO) method.  The Company reviews the net realizable value of inventory in detail on an on-going basis, with consideration given to 
deterioration, obsolescence, and other factors.  If actual market conditions differ from those projected by management, and the Company’s 
estimates prove to be inaccurate, write-downs of inventory values and adjustments to cost of sales may be required.  Historically, the Company’s 
reserves have approximated actual experience.  
   
Long-Lived Assets  
   

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost and includes expenditures for additions and major improvements. Expenditures for repairs and 
maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. The Company uses the straight-line method of depreciation for financial reporting purposes. 
Buildings and improvements are depreciated over periods ranging from 7 to 34 years. Machinery and equipment are depreciated over periods 
ranging from 4 to 12 years. Furniture and fixtures are depreciated over periods ranging from 3 to 10 years. Accelerated methods of depreciation 
are used for federal income tax purposes. When assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed 
from the accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in the consolidated statement of operations. The Company’s depreciation expense was $7,132 
in 2009.  

   
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

Events or circumstances that would result in an impairment review primarily include operations reporting losses, a significant change in the use 
of an asset, or the planned disposal or sale of the asset. The asset would be considered impaired when the future net undiscounted cash flows 
generated by the asset are less than its carrying value. An impairment loss would be recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value 
of the asset exceeds its fair value, as determined by quoted market price (if available) or the present value of expected future cash flows.  

   
Pension Benefits  
   

The Company recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of a plan as an asset or liability in the statement of financial position and the 
recognition of changes in the funded status in the year in which the changes occur through Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.  
Pension expense continues to be recognized in the financial statement on an actuarial basis.  
   

To develop the discount rate assumption to be used for its pension plans, the Company matches projected pension payments to the yield 
derived from a spot-rate yield curve that contains a portfolio of available non-callable bonds rated AA or higher with comparable maturities.  
The expected long-term rate of return assumption is based on the expected return of the various asset classes in the plans’ portfolio and the 
targeted allocation of plan assets.  The asset return is developed using historical asset return performance as well as current and anticipated 
market conditions such as inflation, interest rates and market performance.  The assumed long-term rate of return on assets is applied to a 
calculated value of plan assets and produces the expected return on plan assets that is included in net pension expense.  The difference between 
this expected return and the actual return on plan assets is recorded to Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.  
   
Revenue Recognition  
   

Revenue from the sale of the Company’s products is recognized when all of the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an 
arrangement exists, (ii) shipment has occurred, (iii) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collection of the resulting 
receivable is reasonable assured.  Revenue is generally recognized at the point of shipment; however in certain instances as shipping terms 
dictate, revenue is recognized when the product reaches the point of destination, and title to the customer is transferred.  Substantially all of the 
Company’s revenues are derived from fixed price purchase orders.  

   
Costs and related expenses to manufacture the products are recorded as costs of sales when the related revenue is recognized. Shipping and 

handling costs are included in cost of products sold and are included in net sales when billed to customers.  
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Certain of the Company’s foreign locations collect various taxes from customers that have been assessed by a governmental authority and 

imposed on revenue-producing transactions.  The Company records all such taxes on a net basis in its Consolidated Statement of Operations.  
   

Grant Income  
   
Grant income is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has complied with the conditions attached to the 

respective grant and the grant income will be received.  Grant income is recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations on 
a systematic basis over the periods necessary to match the grant income with related costs.  Specifically, grants related to capital assets are 
deducted from the carrying amount of the related asset and recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations as a reduction of 
depreciation expense over the useful life of the asset.  Grant income received for expenses is recorded as a reduction to the related expense in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations, recognized as the related costs are incurred.  

   
The Company received a grant totaling $1,000 which has been recognized as a reduction to the carrying value of Property, plant and 

equipment with a corresponding reduction to 2009 depreciation expense of $82.  The government grant contains obligations to provide periodic 
progress reporting, maintenance of records and various other terms and conditions, and provides for repayment in the event of default by the 
Company.  The Company has complied and expects to continue to comply with all conditions attached to the grant as of December 31, 2009.  
   
Insurance  
   

The Company uses a combination of insurance and self-insurance for a number of risks including property, general liability, directors’ and 
officers’ liability, workers’ compensation, vehicle liability and employee-related health care benefits. Liabilities associated with the risks that are 
retained are estimated by considering various historical trends and forward-looking assumptions. The estimated liabilities for these self-insured 
liabilities at December 31, 2009 of $1,071 could be significantly affected if future actual occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions 
and historical trends.  

   
Contingencies  
   

The Company’s treatment of contingent liabilities in the financial statement is based on the expected outcome of the applicable contingency. 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company consults with legal counsel on matters related to litigation and other experts both within and 
outside of the Company. The Company will accrue a liability if the likelihood of an adverse outcome is probable of occurrence and the amount is 
estimable. The Company will disclose contingent liabilities if either the likelihood of an adverse outcome is only reasonably possible or an 
amount is not estimable.  

   
Foreign Currency  
   

The Company’s primary functional currency is the U.S. dollar.  However, revenue and expenses from the Company’s foreign manufacturing 
operations in Italy, China and Canada are denominated in local currency, thereby creating exposures to changes in exchange rates.  Gains and 
losses from foreign currency translation of assets and liabilities are included in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, a separate 
component of shareholders’ equity. Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income included translation gains of $1,179 for the year ended 
December 31, 2009.  Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are translated to local currency at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  Sales or purchases in foreign currencies, other than the subsidiary’s local currency, are exchanged at 
the date of the transaction.  The effect of transaction gains or losses is included in Other income (expense), net in our Consolidated Statement of 
Operations.   Foreign currency transaction losses were $398 in 2009.  

   
Significant Concentrations  
   

The Company provides credit, in the normal course of its business, to original equipment and aftermarket manufacturers.  For the year ended 
December 31, 2009, approximately 44.5% of the Company’s revenue was derived from its top five customers.  The Company’s largest customer, 
Caterpillar, accounted for approximately 17.3% of its total net sales in 2009.  The Company expects this customer concentration will continue to 
account for a large portion of our revenue in the future.  The Company generally does not require collateral and performs ongoing credit 
evaluations of its customers and maintains allowances for potential credit losses which, when realized, have been within the range of 
management’s expectations.  
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Personnel  
   

At December 31, 2009, the Company had 619 domestic employees and 334 international employees.  Approximately 25 employees at the 
Akron, Ohio facility are covered under a collective bargaining agreement with the United Automobile Workers expiring in July 2012.  
Approximately 210 employees at the Company’s Orzinuovi, Italy facility are represented by a national mechanics union agreement that expires 
in December 2012.  Additionally, 205 of its Italian employees are also covered by an internal facility agreement that expires in December 2012. 
Labor relations are generally satisfactory, and there have been no major work stoppages in recent years.  

   
Product Research and Development  
   

Product research and development costs are expensed as incurred. The Company’s expenditures for product research and development and 
engineering were approximately $4,704 in 2009.  

   
Advertising  
   

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred. The Company’s expenditures for advertising were approximately $247 in 2009.  
   

Income Taxes  
   

The Company uses the liability method in measuring the provision for income taxes and recognizing deferred tax assets and liabilities in 
the balance sheet. The liability method requires that deferred income taxes reflect the tax consequences of currently enacted tax laws and rates 
for differences between the tax and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities.  

   
Recent Accounting Developments  
   

The following new accounting updates and guidance became effective for the Company commencing with its fourth quarter of 2009:  
   
•                   In February 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-09, which addresses certain implementation issues related to an entity’s requirement to 

perform and disclose subsequent events procedures.  The ASU (1) exempts entities that file their financial statement with, or furnish 
them to, the SEC from disclosing the date through which subsequent events procedures have been performed and (2) clarifies the 
circumstances in which an entity’s financial statement would be considered restated and in which the entity would therefore be required 
to update its subsequent events evaluation since the originally issued or available to be issued financial statement.  ASU 2010-09 
became effective immediately upon issuance, and the Company has adopted its disclosure requirements within these consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009.  

   
•             The FASB issued a technical amendment to employer’s disclosure requirements for plan assets for defined benefit pensions and other 

postretirement plans, which is integrated into the ASC at ASC 715-20-50, Compensation — Retirement Benefits:  Defined Benefit Plans 
— General:  Disclosure . The objective is to provide users of financial statement with an understanding of how investment allocation 
decisions are made, the major categories of plan assets held by the plans, the inputs and valuation techniques used to measure the fair 
value of plan assets, significant concentration of risk within the company’s plan assets, and for fair value measurements determined 
using significant unobservable inputs a reconciliation of changes between the beginning and ending balances.  The disclosures 
contained within the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009 are in compliance with the 
requirements of this ASC.  

   
•             The FASB issued ASU 2009-05, which provides additional guidance clarifying the measurement of liabilities at fair value and 

addresses restrictions when estimating the fair value of a liability under ASC 820.  When a quoted price in an active market for the 
identical liability is not available, ASU 2009-05 requires that the fair value should be measured using one of the following approaches 
a) the quoted price of the identical liability when traded as an asset, b) quoted prices for similar liabilities or similar liabilities when 
traded as assets or c) another valuation technique that is consistent with the principles of ASC 820.  For the Company, ASU 2009-05 is 
effective for the quarter ended December 31, 2009.  The disclosures contained within the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2009 are in compliance with the requirements of this ASC.  
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In addition, the following accounting updates and guidance have been issued by the FASB which will be adopted by the Company in 

future periods:  
   

•             In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, which amends ASC 820 to add new requirements for disclosures about transfers into 
and out of Levels 1 and 2 and separate disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements relating to Level 3 measurements.  
ASU 2010-06 also clarifies existing fair value disclosures about the level of disaggregation and about inputs and valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value.  Further, ASU 2010-06 amends guidance on employers’ disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets 
under ASC 715 to require that disclosures be provided by classes of assets instead of by major categories of assets.  This ASU is 
effective for the first reporting period beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the requirement to provide Level 3 activity of 
purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross basis, which will be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 
2010, and for interim periods within those fiscal years.  The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance will have a material 
impact on its consolidated financial statement and disclosures.  

   
•                   In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-17,  which codifies SFAS 167 and revises the former guidance under FIN 46R to 

require an analysis to determine whether a variable interest gives the entity a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity.  
SFAS 167 requires an ongoing reassessment and eliminates the quantitative approach previously required for determining whether an 
entity is the primary beneficiary.  The ASU also requires additional disclosures about a reporting entity’s involvement with variable 
interest entities and about any significant changes in risk exposure as a result of that involvement.  This ASU is effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after November 15, 2009.  The Company does not expect the adoption of this statement will have an impact on its 
consolidated financial statement and disclosures.  

   
•              In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-16, which codifies SFAS 166 and revises the former guidance under SFAS 140.  

Among other things, ASU 2009-16 removes the concept of a qualifying special-purpose entity, changes the requirements for 
derecognizing assets, and enhances information reported to financial statement users by increasing the transparency of disclosures about 
transfers of financial assets and an entity’s continuing involvement with transferred financial assets.  This statement also clarifies the 
requirements for isolation and limitations on portions of financial assets that are eligible for sale accounting.  This ASU is effective for 
fiscal years beginning on or after November 15, 2009.  The Company does not expect the adoption of this statement will have an impact 
on its consolidated financial statement and disclosures.  

   
•             In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-14, which will become effective for all revenue arrangements entered into or materially 

modified by the Company beginning July 1, 2010, with earlier adoption permitted.  Under the new guidance, tangible products that 
have software components that are essential to the functionality of the tangible product will no longer be within the scope of the 
software revenue recognition guidance, and software-enabled products will now be subject to other relevant revenue recognition 
guidance.  The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance will have an impact on its consolidated financial statement and 
disclosures.  

   
•             In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-13, which will become effective for all revenue arrangements entered into or materially 

modified by the Company beginning July 1, 2010, with earlier adoption permitted.  Under the new guidance, when vendor specific 
objective evidence or third party evidence for deliverables in an arrangement cannot be determined, a best estimate of the selling price 
is required to separate deliverables and allocate arrangement considerations using the relative selling price method.  The guidance 
includes new disclosure requirements on how the application of the relative selling price method affects the timing and amount of 
revenue recognition.  The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance will have an impact on its consolidated financial 
statement and disclosures.  

   
•             In September 2009, the FASB issued a proposed ASU on the Emerging Issues Task Force consensus-for-exposure on Issue 09-2 that 

addresses the inconsistencies between the accounting for Research and Development (R&D) assets acquired in a business combination 
and those acquired in an asset acquisition.  The proposed ASU requires an entity to capitalize R&D assets acquired in an asset 
acquisition as indefinite-lived intangible assets until completion or abandonment of the related R&D activities.  The ASU also proposes 
that contingent consideration in an asset acquisition would be accounted for in accordance with other sections of the ASC and includes 
a principle under which the entity would analyze whether contingent consideration relates to the  
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acquired asset or to future services provided by the seller.  The proposed ASU would be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 
December 15, 2009 and the Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact on its consolidated 
financial statement and disclosures.  

   
The Company’s management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards, if currently adopted, 

will have a material effect on the accompanying financial statement.  
   
3.                                       Discontinued Operations  
   

In connection with the finalization of the sale of the Company’s Monterrey, Mexico facility in 2006, the Company received a note receivable 
of $1,200.  During 2008, the note holder defaulted on its repayment obligation and the Company recorded a reserve of $1,000 due to its 
uncertainty of collecting this remaining outstanding balance of the note receivable.  During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company was able to 
successfully negotiate a settlement arrangement with the note holder and realized $125 of income in Loss from discontinued operations, after 
income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2009.  

   
There are no remaining assets or liabilities classified as discontinued operations recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 

2009.  Through December 31, 2009, the Company continues to make adjustments to amounts previously reported as discontinued operations and 
incur legal and professional expenses associated with the finalization of legal matters and closure of its legal presence in Mexico.  This residual 
activity is included in the following summary of our results of discontinued operation:  
   

   
4.  Fair Value Measurements  
   

The Company follows the fair value accounting guidance which refined the definition of fair value, established a framework for measuring 
fair value, and permitted the election of fair value measurement with unrealized gains and losses on designated items recognized in earnings at 
each subsequent period for certain financial assets and liabilities.  The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, short 
and long-term investments, short-term trade receivables, short and long-term notes receivable, accounts payable and debt instruments.  For short-
term instruments, other than those required to be reported at fair value on a recurring basis and for which additional disclosures are included 
below, management concluded the historical carrying value is a reasonable estimate of fair value because of the short period of time between the 
origination of such instruments and their expected realization.  

   
The Company’s financial instruments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement.  The three levels that may be used to measure fair value are as follows:  
   
Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
   
Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 

quoted prices that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full 
term of the assets or liabilities. The fair values of available for sale obligations issued by U.S. government agencies and U.S. corporations held 
by the Company were determined by obtaining quoted prices from nationally recognized securities broker-dealers.  

   
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or 

liabilities.  
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The following tables set forth our financial assets and liabilities that were recorded at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2009: 

   

   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Net sales  
   $ —

   
          
Loss from discontinued operations, before income taxes  

   $ (206 ) 
Income tax benefit  

   (70 ) 
Loss from discontinued operations, after income taxes  

   $ (136 ) 

December 31, 2009  
   Total  

   Level 1  
   Level 2  

   Level 3  
   

Assets:  
                       

Money market funds  
   $ 11,172 

   $ 11,172 
   $ —

   $ —
   

Commercial paper  
   34,977 

   —
   34,977 

   —
   

Other trading(1)  
   3,018 

   2,538 
   —

   480 
   

Total assets at fair value  
   $ 49,167 

   $ 13,710 
   $ 34,977 

   $ 480 
   

Liabilities:  
                       

Deferred compensation plan liability (1)  
   $ 3,018 

   $ 2,538 
   $ —

   $ 480 
   

Total liabilities at fair value  
   $ 3,018 

   $ 2,538 
   $ —

   $ 480 
   



   
At December 31, 2009, a majority of the Company’s financial assets have been classified as Level 2.  These assets are initially valued at 

the transaction price and subsequently valued typically utilizing third party pricing services.  The pricing services use many inputs to determine 
value, including reportable trades, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, and other industry and economic events. The Company validates the prices 
provided by its third party pricing services by reviewing their pricing methods and matrices, obtaining market values from other pricing sources, 
and analyzing pricing data in certain instances.  Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value.  
Accordingly, the fair value estimates provided herein are not necessarily indicative of the amount that the Company or its debtholders could 
realize in a current market exchange.  The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the 
estimated fair value.  After completing its validation procedures, the Company did not adjust or override any fair value measurements provided 
by our pricing services at either December 31, 2009.  

   
The fair values of the Company’s money market funds and the majority of certain other trading securities are determined based on quoted 

prices in active markets and have been classified as Level 1.  The trading securities are maintained for the future payments under the Company’s 
deferred compensation plan, which is structured as a rabbi trust.  The investments are all managed by a third party and valued based on the 
underlying fair value of each mutual fund held by the trust, for which there are active quoted markets.  The related deferred compensation 
liabilities are valued based on the underlying investment selections held in each participant’s shadow account.  Investment funds held by the 
rabbi trust, for which there is an active quoted market, mirror the investment options selected by participants in the deferred compensation plan.  
The majority of the deferred compensation liability is classified as Level 1.  The total net realized and unrealized gains including the gain 
measured using Level 3 inputs totaled $778 in 2009, are included in Other income (expense), net in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of 
Operations.  Offsetting entries to the deferred compensation liability and compensation expense within Selling, technical and administrative 
expenses for the same amounts were also recorded during the year ended December 31, 2009.  The fair value of a guaranteed income fund 
maintained in the rabbi trust and reported in Other trading assets in the table above, and the related deferred compensation liability have been 
classified as Level 3.  
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(1)  Other trading assets represent assets held in a rabbi trust to fund deferred compensation plan liabilities and are included as a component of 
Other long-term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009.  The deferred compensation plan liability is the 
Company’s liability under its deferred compensation plan and is included in Other long-term accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet as of December 31, 2009.  



   
Level 3 - Gains and Losses  
   

The table below sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the deferred compensation plan’s Level 3 assets for the year ended 
December 31, 2009:  

   

   
The deferred compensation plan has entered into an investment contract, the Guaranteed Income Fund (fund), with Prudential Retirement 

Services, Inc. (Prudential).  Prudential maintains the contributions to this fund in a general account, which is credited with earnings on the 
underlying investments and charged for participant withdrawals and administrative expenses.  

   
The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009 presents the fund at contract value, which approximates fair value.  However, 

contract value is the relevant measurement attribute for that portion of the net assets available for benefits attributable to fully benefit-responsive 
investment contract because contract value is the amount deferred compensation plan participants would receive if they were to initiate permitted 
transactions under the terms of the plan.  Contract value represents contributions made under the contract, plus earnings and transfers in, less 
participant withdrawals, administrative expenses and transfers out.  Prudential is contractually obligated to repay the principal and a specified 
interest rate that is guaranteed to the plan.  Participants may ordinarily direct the withdrawal or transfer of all or a portion of their investment at 
contract value.  However, Prudential has the right to defer certain disbursements (excluding retirement, termination, and death or disability 
disbursements) or transfers from the fund when total amounts disbursed from the pool in a given calendar year exceed 10% of the total assets in 
that pool on January 1 of that year.  The Company does not believe that any events that would limit the deferred compensation plan’s ability to 
transact at contract value with participants are probable of occurring.  

   
There are no reserves against contract value for credit risk of the contract issuer or otherwise.  The average yield and crediting interest rate 

was approximately 2.87% for the year ended December 31, 2009.  The crediting interest rate is based on a formula agreed upon with the 
Prudential, based on the yields of the underlying investments and considering factors such as projected investment earnings, the current interest 
environment, investment expenses, and a profit and risk component.  The rate may never be less than 1.50% nor may it be reduced by more than 
2.10% during any calendar year.  Interest rates are declared in advance and guaranteed for six month periods.  

   
The carrying value and the fair value of non-current financial liabilities that qualify as financial instruments are reported in the table below:  
   

   
5.  Investments  

   
The Company determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation as of each 

balance sheet date.  At December 31, 2009, the Company accounted for all of its short-term investments as available-for-sale.  Available-for-sale 
securities are reported at fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses, net of tax, included in Accumulated other comprehensive loss in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet.  The amortized cost of debt securities in this category is adjusted for the amortization of any discount or premium 
to maturity computed  

   
15  

 

      
Guaranteed  

Income Fund  
   

Balance - January 1, 2009  
   $ —

   
Realized gains  

   —
   

Unrealized gains / (losses) relating to instruments still held at reporting 
date  

   8 
   

Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements (net)  
   472 

   
Balance - December 31, 2009  

   $ 480 
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

      Carrying Value  
   Fair Value  

   
Long-term financial liabilities  

             
Long-term debt  

   $ 77,090 
   $ 76,994 

   



   
under the effective interest method.  Dividend and interest income, including the amortization of any discount or premium, as well as realized 
gains or losses, are included in Interest income in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  Both the cost of any security sold and the amount 
reclassified out of Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income into earnings is based on the specific identification method.  

   
The following is a summary of the Company’s available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2009, by contractual maturity dates:  

   

   
As of December 31, 2009, unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities of $11 ($7 net of tax) are included in Accumulated other 

comprehensive loss in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet.  Unrealized losses of $32 ($21 net of tax) were reclassified out of 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income and into earnings during the year ended December 31, 2009.  

   
At December 31, 2009, the Company had three investments with an amortized cost totaling $34,988 that were in an unrealized loss position 

totaling $11 and the Company determined that the gross unrealized loss on these investments is temporary in nature.  The gross unrealized loss 
on these investments was due to changes in interest rates and, at December 31, 2009, the Company had both the intent and ability to hold these 
investments through their maturity dates in the first quarter of 2010, at which time it expects to receive the full maturity value of $35,000.  

   
6.  Intangible Assets  
   

The components of finite-lived intangible assets are as follows:  
   

   
Product certifications were acquired and valued based on the acquired company’s position as a certified supplier of friction materials to the 

major manufacturers of commercial aircraft brakes.  The benefit the Company receives from its product certifications is anticipated to continue 
as long as the friction technology underlying them is utilized by the manufacturers of commercial aircraft brakes.  At December 31, 2009, the 
Company’s technology continues to be utilized on both current and replacement models of aircraft, and the Company currently anticipates that 
its technology will continue to be used over the remaining useful life of its product certifications.  Therefore, the Company does not believe that 
our future cash flows will be materially impacted by our intent or ability to renew or extend our product certification arrangements.  
   

The Company estimates that the straight-line amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets will be $553 in each of the next four 
fiscal years 2010 through 2013 and $437 in 2014.  

   
The Company expenses any costs incurred to renew or extend the terms of its finite-lived intangible assets.  In 2009, the Company did not 

incur any costs to renew or extend the terms of its product certifications.  
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      Available-for -Sale Securities  
   

December 31, 2009  
   Amortized Cost  

   
Gross Unrealized  

Gains  
   

Gross Unrealized  
Losses  

   
Estimated Fair Value  

(Net Carrying Amount)  
   

Other debt securities - due in one year or 
less  

   $ 35,941 
   $ —

   $ (11 )  $ 35,930 
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

      Gross  
   

Accumulated  
Amortization  

   Net  
   

Product certifications  
   $ 20,820 

   $ 14,805 
   $ 6,015 

   



   
7. Financing Arrangements  
   

   
As of December 31, 2009, the Company was in compliance with the provisions of all of its debt instruments.  
   
Aggregate principal payments due on long-term debt as of December 31, 2009 are as follows: 2010 - $0; 2011 - $0;   2012 - $0; 2013 - $0; 

2014 - $77,090.  
   
Senior Notes  
   
On November 1, 2004, the Company completed a public offering of $110,000 aggregate principal amount of 8¾% Senior Notes due 

November 1, 2014 (the senior notes).  In 2007, the Company redeemed $22,910 in aggregate principal amount of the senior notes.  In November 
2009, the Company purchased $10,000 of its senior notes in the open market.  The senior notes have not been formally retired by the Company, 
but have been treated as an extinguishment of debt for accounting purposes, as the Company has been released from being the primary obligor 
under the liability.  The Company reported a $126 loss on extinguishment of debt associated with this purchase, comprised of a gain on the 
repurchase of the bonds and the write-off of the unamortized portion of the debt issuance costs which was included in Other income (expense), 
net in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for 2009, and a commission expense of $25, which was included in Selling, technical and 
administrative expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for 2009.  As noted in the above table, after taking into account the above 
transactions, the remaining balance of senior notes outstanding as of December 31, 2009 is $77,090.  

   
Interest is payable on the senior notes each January 1 and July 1.  
   
The senior notes are senior unsecured obligations, rank senior in right of payment to all of the Company’s existing and future subordinated 

debt and rank equally in right of payment with all of the Company’s existing and future senior debt, including the Credit and Security 
Agreement, dated June 12, 2009, with KeyBank National Association, as Lender (the bank facility), which is described in more detail below.  

   
The senior notes are unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by all of the Company’s existing and future domestic restricted 

subsidiaries (the Guarantors). The guarantees rank senior in right of payment to all of the existing and future subordinated debt of the Guarantors 
and equally in right of payment with all existing and future senior debt of the Guarantors, including the bank facility. The senior notes and the 
guarantees will be effectively subordinated to all of Hawk’s and the Company’s Guarantors’ secured debt, including the bank facility, to the 
extent of the value of the assets securing that debt.  

   
On or after November 1, 2009, the Company may, at its option, redeem some or all of the senior notes at the following redemption prices, 

plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to the date of redemption:  
   

   
Upon a change of control as defined in the indenture, dated November 1, 2004, among Hawk, the Guarantors and HSBC Bank USA, 

National Association, as trustee, each holder of the senior notes will have the right to require the Company to repurchase all or any part of such 
holder’s Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest and 
additional interest, if any, to the date of purchase.  

   
The senior notes are governed by the indenture. The indenture also contains certain covenants, subject to a number of important limitations 

and exceptions that limit the Company’s ability to:  
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      December 31  
   

      2009  
   

Senior notes  
   $ 77,090 

   
Bank facilities (domestic and foreign)  

   —
   

Total debt  
   $ 77,090 

   

For the period below  
   Percentage  

   
On or after November 1, 2009  

   104.375 % 
On or after November 1, 2010  

   103.281 % 
On or after November 1, 2011  

   102.188 % 
On or after November 1, 2012  

   101.094 % 
On or after November 1, 2013  

   100.000 % 



   
•   incur or guarantee additional debt or issue disqualified capital stock,  
   
•   pay dividends, redeem subordinated debt or make other restricted payments,  
   
•   issue preferred stock of its subsidiaries,  
   
•   transfer or sell assets, including capital stock of its subsidiaries,  
   
•   incur dividend or other payment restrictions affecting certain of its subsidiaries,  
   
•   make certain investments or acquisitions,  
   
•   grant liens on assets,  
   
•   enter into certain transactions with affiliates, and  
   
•   merge, consolidate or transfer substantially all of its assets.  
   

The indenture considers non-compliance with the limitations set forth above to be events of default. The indenture also considers non-
payment of interest and principal amounts on the senior notes and certain payment defaults with respect to other debt in excess of $5,000 to be 
events of default. In the event of a default, the principal and interest could be accelerated upon written notice by more than 25% or more of the 
holders of the senior notes.  

   
The indenture permits the Company to incur additional debt without limitation, provided that the Company continues to meet a cash flow 

ratio greater than 2.0 to 1.0 for the most recently ended four quarters. Hawk may pay cash dividends on its Class A common stock under the 
indenture provided:  

   
•   there is no default or event of default,  
   
•   the Company meets the cash flow ratio, and  
   
•   the amount of the dividend payment plus certain other payments is not in excess of a formula based on the sum of the Company’s 

consolidated net income after November 1, 2004, the cash proceeds of certain equity offerings by the Company after November 1, 
2004, and the return on certain investments made by the Company.  

   
Subsequent Event:  
   

On February 8, 2010, the Company announced that it was soliciting consents from holders of $75,740 of its senior notes to effect an 
amendment to the indenture governing the senior notes.  The amendment allows the Company to repurchase up to $20,000 of its outstanding 
common stock.  The consent solicitation provided for the payment of a consent fee for valid consents received by the Company by 5:00 p.m. on 
February 22, 2010.  As of that date $75,585 of the senior notes consented and a fee of $1,513 was paid to the consenting senior note holders.  On 
February 23, 2010, the Company entered into a supplemental indenture to allow for the stock repurchase.  

   
Bank Facility  
   
On June 12, 2009, the Company entered into a new three year bank facility with KeyBank National Association. The new bank facility 

replaced the Company’s old credit facility which was due to mature on November 1, 2009.  
   
The bank facility has a maximum revolving credit commitment of $30,000, including a $2,000 letter of credit subfacility.  The bank facility 

matures on June 11, 2012.  Loans made under the bank facility will be at interest rates derived either from federal funds rates (Base Rate Loans) 
or Eurodollar rates (Eurodollar Loans). The interest rate for Base Rate Loans will be 175 basis points over the higher of (a) the Lender’s prime 
rate and (b) 0.5% in excess of the Federal Funds Rate. The interest rate for Eurodollar Loans will be 350 basis points over the Eurodollar Rate. 
The commitment fee is 50 basis points on the unused portion of the bank facility.  
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The bank facility is collateralized by a security interest in the cash, accounts receivable, inventory and certain intangible assets of the 

Company and its domestic subsidiaries.  The Company pledged the stock of substantially all of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of 
certain of its foreign subsidiaries as collateral.  

   
The bank facility requires maintenance of a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.0 to 1.0 measured quarterly on a trailing four quarter 

basis, although this minimum coverage ratio applies only if the Company’s availability falls below $15,000, and the Company has borrowings 
under the bank facility.  

   
Under the bank facility, the Company may:  
   

•             pay cash dividends on its Class A common stock in an amount up to $5,000 per year;  
   
•             repurchase its Class A common stock in an amount not to exceed $30,000 during the commitment period;  
   
•             repurchase its senior notes in an amount not to exceed $30,000 during the commitment period; and  
   
•             effect acquisitions subject to certain restrictions in an unlimited amount;  
   

provided that, in all cases there is no event of default, and with respect to acquisitions, the Company’s availability is not less than $15,000.  
   

The bank facility also requires compliance with other customary loan covenants and contains customary default provisions that, if triggered, 
would cause the acceleration of repayment of the debt incurred under the bank facility.  The Company has agreed to maintain average 
compensating balances of $15,000 ($10,000 beginning January 1, 2010). The balances are not legally restricted to withdrawal and serve as 
normal operating cash.  

   
Approximately $356 of costs and expenses related to the issuance of the bank facility are being deferred and amortized over the three year 

term of the bank facility.  
   
The Company maintains its bank facility to finance its ongoing working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and for 

general corporate purposes.  
   
The Company had no borrowings under its bank facility or old credit facility at December 31, 2009.  The Company had $13,089 at December 

31, 2009 available to borrow based on its eligible collateral.  On December 31, 2009, the Company had issued stand-by letters of credit totaling 
$855.  

   
Other  
   
The Company has entered into a short-term, variable rate, debt agreement of up to $3,297 (2,300 Euro) with a local Italian financial 

institution at its facility in Italy.  There were no borrowings under this facility as of December 31, 2009.  
   

8. Accounts Receivables Factoring Agreement  
   

The Company’s Italian subsidiary had a factoring agreement to sell, without recourse, certain of their European-based accounts receivables to 
an unrelated third party financial institution during 2009.  Under the terms of the factoring agreement, the maximum available amount of the 
factoring facility outstanding at any one time was $6,751 (4,710 Euro) during 2009.  During the course of the year in 2009, $7,412 of receivables 
had been sold under the terms of the factoring agreement.  The sale of these receivables reduced the credit exposure of the Company.  The 
Company has the option to receive a cash advance from the factoring company upon the sale of the receivable.  As of December 31, 2009, the 
Company had no cash advances from the factoring company under the programs.   Sales of account receivable to the factoring company are 
reflected as a reduction of trade accounts receivable and an expense is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations on such sale.  The 
amount due from the factoring company as of December 31, 2009, net of advances received, was $3,278, and is included in Accounts receivable 
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.  The Company paid fees associated with the sale of receivables based on the monetary value of the 
receivables sold.  Administrative costs  
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related to this program for the year ended December 31, 2009 were $48, and are included in Selling, technical and administrative expenses in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations.  
   
9. Shareholders’ Equity  
   

Dividends on the Series D preferred stock are payable, when declared, at the rate of 9.8% per annum.  The Company paid dividends of $150 
in 2009 to its preferred stockholders.  Each share of Series D preferred stock is (1) entitled to a liquidation preference equal to $1,000 per share 
plus any accrued or unpaid dividends, (2) not entitled to vote, except in certain circumstances, and (3) redeemable in whole, at the option of the 
Company, for $1,000 per share plus all accrued dividends to the date of redemption. The Company also has 100,000 authorized shares of $0.01 
par value, Series E preferred stock, of which no shares are issued or outstanding. Each share of Series E preferred stock is (1) not redeemable 
and is entitled to dividends in the amount of 1,000 times the per share dividend received by the holders of common stock, (2) entitled to 1,000 
votes per share, and (3) entitled to a liquidation right of 1,000 times the aggregate amount distributed per share to the holder of common stock.  

   
The holders of the Series D preferred are entitled to elect a majority of the members of the Board of Directors.  Accordingly, if any two of the 

Series D preferred shareholders vote their shares of Series D preferred stock in the same manner, they will have sufficient voting power to elect a 
majority of the Board of Directors and to thereby control and direct the policies of the Board of Directors and, in general, to determine the 
outcome of various matters submitted to the stockholders for approval, including fundamental corporate transactions.  

   
In 1997, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of one Series E preferred share purchase right (a Right) for each outstanding share of 

common stock. The dividend was payable to the shareholders of record as of January 16, 1998, and with respect to common stock, issued 
thereafter until the Distribution Date, as defined in the Rights Agreement, and in certain circumstances, with respect to common stock issued 
after the Distribution Date.  As of December 31, 2009 7,979,740 Rights were outstanding.  Except as set forth in the Amended and Restated 
Rights Agreement, dated January 4, 2008, each Right, when it becomes exercisable, entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company 
one one-thousandth of a share of Series E preferred stock at a price of $70 per one one-thousandth share of a Series E preferred stock, subject to 
adjustment.  A Right will generally become exercisable upon any person becoming the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the then outstanding 
Class A common stock of the Company.  

   
On November 24, 2008, the Company announced a plan, approved by the Board of Directors, to repurchase up to $15,000 of its shares of 

Class A common stock in the open market, through privately negotiated transactions or otherwise in accordance with securities laws and 
regulations.  Under the terms of the indenture, as of December 31, 2009, the Company was limited to repurchase up to $15,868 of its shares of 
Class A common stock based on the Company’s cumulative net income through December 31, 2009.   As of December 31, 2009, $14,661 has 
been spent by the Company to repurchase 1,072,911 shares of common stock at market prices.  

   
On February 19, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan to repurchase up to $25,000 of its shares of Class A common stock 

in the open market, through privately negotiated transactions or otherwise in accordance with securities laws and regulations.  Under the terms of 
the indenture and supplemental indenture, as of March 8, 2010, the Company is limited to purchase $20,867 of its common stock based on a 
covenant formula applicable to stock repurchases, including the recent amendment which allows for a repurchase of up to $20,000 of the 
Company’s common stock.  

   
10.  Stock Compensation Plan  
   

The Company’s Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan (Plan), provides for the granting of up to 1,315,000 shares of 
common stock of the Company.  The Plan had 509,483 shares available for grants as of December 31, 2009.  Options generally vest over a five 
year period after the grant date and expire no more than ten years after the grant date.  

   
There were no options granted in 2009.  The fair value of stock options granted in previous periods was estimated using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model.  Application of the Black-Scholes option pricing model involves assumptions that are judgmental and affect compensation 
expense.  Historical information is the primary basis for selection of expected volatility, expected option life and expected dividend yield.  
Expected volatility is based on the most recent historical period equal to the expected life of the option.  The risk-free interest rate is based on 
yields of U.S.  
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Treasury zero-coupon issues with a term equal to the expected life of the option on the date the stock options were granted.  

   
The Company recognized $931 of compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2009.  The Company classifies its stock option 

expense principally in Selling, technical & administrative expenses in its Consolidated Statement of Operations.  
   
Stock-based option activity during the year ended December 31, 2009, was as follows:  

   

   
The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax difference between the $17.61 closing price of shares of common 

stock of the Company on December 31, 2009, over the exercise price of the stock option, multiplied by the number of options outstanding and 
exercisable.  The aggregate intrinsic value is not recorded for financial accounting purposes and the value changes based on the daily changes in 
the fair market value of the Company’s shares of common stock.  

   
The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted per option was $0 in 2009.  
   
The following table summarizes information about stock options exercised and vested (in thousands of dollars):  
   

   
The following table summarizes the non-vested status of the Company’s stock-based option awards:  

   

   
Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $436 in 2009.  Shares used to satisfy the exercise of stock-based awards are 

normally issued out of treasury stock.  The Company does not currently have a policy of repurchasing a specified number of shares issued under 
employee benefit programs during any particular time period.  The intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $344 in 2009.  
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As of December 31, 2009, there was $1,030 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the non-vested share-based compensation 

arrangements under the Company’s stock compensation plans.  The remaining cost is expected to be recognized over the next 2.3 years.  
   

11. Employee Benefits  
   
The Company sponsors several defined benefit pension plans covering certain domestic and Canadian employees.  Domestic defined benefit 

pension plans comprise 96% of our projected benefit obligation.  The Company recognizes the net amount by which pension and other 
postretirement benefit plan liabilities are over funded or underfunded, which is the difference between plan assets at fair value and the projected 
benefit obligation, on its Consolidated Balance Sheet.  Benefits payable are based primarily on compensation and years of service or a fixed 
annual benefit for each year of service.  The Company funds the plans in amounts sufficient to satisfy the minimum amounts required under the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and the Ontario Pension Benefits Act and Regulation.  

   
The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact, including the benefit obligations, assets and funded status associated with our 

pension plans at December 31, 2009:  
   

      Options  
   

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price  
   

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining  
Contract Term  

   

Aggregate  
Intrinsic Value  
(in thousands)  

   
Options outstanding at January 1, 2009  

   798,828 
   $ 8.50 

             
Granted  

   —
   —

             
Exercised  

   (69,649 )  6.27 
             

Forfeited or expired  
   —

   —
             

Options outstanding at December 31, 2009  
   729,179 

   $ 8.72 
   4.7 yrs. 

   $ 6,548 
   

                         
Exercisable at December 31, 2009  

   527,778 
   $ 6.05 

   3.5 yrs. 
   $ 6,112 

   

      For the year ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

      (in thousands)  
   

Total intrinsic value of options exercised  
   $ 344 

   
Total fair value of shares vested  

   $ 652 
   

      2009  
   

      Shares  
   

Weighted  
Average  

Fair Value  
   

Beginning nonvested shares outstanding  
   283,200 

   $ 10 
   

Issuances  
   —

   —
   

Cancellations  
   —

   —
   

Forfeitures  
   —

   —
   

Vestings  
   (81,799 )  $ 8 

   
Ending nonvested shares outstanding  

   201,401 
   $ 11 

   



   

(1) Resulting from the impact of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan in Canada.  
   

The amount of the net actuarial gain included in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income for 2009 is $4,498.  The reclassification 
adjustment out of Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income for 2009 for those amounts that have been recognized as a component of net 
periodic pension expense is $1,473.  

   
The amount of unrecognized net actuarial loss and prior service credits, net of tax, included in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) 

income at December 31, 2009 is $801 and $6,669, respectively.  
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      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Accumulated benefit obligation  
   $ 31,327 

   
          
Change in benefit obligation:  

        
Benefit obligation at beginning of year  

   $ 31,013 
   

Service cost  
   309 

   
Interest cost  

   1,819 
   

Actuarial losses  
   324 

   
Foreign currency exchange rate impact (1)  

   154 
   

Benefits paid  
   (2,021 ) 

Benefit obligation at end of year  
   $ 31,598 

   
          
Change in plan assets:  

        
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  

   $ 19,713 
   

Actual return on plan assets  
   6,525 

   
Foreign currency exchange rate impact (1)  

   104 
   

Company contributions  
   4,768 

   
Benefits paid  

   (2,021 ) 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  

   $ 29,089 
   

          
Funded status of the plans  

   $ (2,509 ) 
          
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of the following:  

        
Pension liabilities - non current  

   $ (2,509 ) 



   
The estimated amounts of unrecognized net actuarial loss and prior service cost expected to be amortized from Accumulated other 

comprehensive (loss) income and recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost in 2010 are $299 and $693, respectively.  
   
Amounts applicable to the Company’s under-funded pension plans at December 31, 2009 are as follows:  
   

   
A summary of the components of net periodic benefit cost of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans for the periods presented in the 

Consolidated Statement of Operations is as follows:  
   

   
The plans’ assets are primarily invested in equity and fixed income securities. In addition, one of the Company’s defined benefit plans also 

contains investments in the Company’s Class A common stock, which is included as part of U.S. companies — value in the asset allocation 
table.  As of December 31, 2009, 60,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock were held by a defined benefit plan at a cost of $717 
and with a market value of $1,057. The Company has not and does not contemplate paying dividends on its Class A common stock.  

   
The following assumptions were used in accounting for the defined benefit plans:  
   

   

(1) Only the Company’s Canadian pension plan is impacted by a rate of compensation increase.  
   

The measurement date used to determine the pension benefit measurements for all plans is December 31. The Company has reviewed 
historical rates of return specific to its respective plans to determine the expected long-term rate of return on assets.  
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      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Projected benefit obligation  
   $ 31,598 

   
Accumulated benefit obligation  

   $ 31,327 
   

Fair value of plan assets  
   $ 29,089 

   
Amounts recognized as accrued benefit liabilities  

   $ 2,509 
   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Components of net periodic pension cost:  
        

Service cost  
   $ 340 

   
Interest cost  

   1,819 
   

Expected return on plan assets  
   (1,759 ) 

Amortization of prior service cost  
   240 

   
Recognized net actuarial loss  

   1,233 
   

Net periodic pension cost of defined benefit plans  
   $ 1,873 

   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

          
Weighted average rates used to compute the projected benefit obligation as of December 31:  

        
Discount rate  

   6.0 % 
Rate of compensation increase (1)  

   3.5 % 
          
Weighted average rates used to determine the net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31:  

        
Discount rate  

   6.1 % 
Rate of compensation increase (1)  

   3.5 % 
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets  

   8.2 % 



   
The Company expects to contribute $1,789 in cash in 2010 to fund its defined benefit pension plans for both the 2009 and 2010 plan years 

based on the contribution expectation provided by its third party actuary.  
   
Estimated benefit payments for the next five years and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter are:  
   

   
Investment Strategy and Asset Allocation  
   

The objectives of the Company’s investment strategies are the preservation of capital and long-term growth without exposing principal to 
undue risk utilizing an investment strategy of investing in equities, fixed income, cash equivalents and alternative investments in a mix which 
participates in a rising market and provides protection in a falling market.  Target asset allocations are a range of 55% to 65% in equity 
securities, a range of 25% to 35% in fixed income and cash securities and a maximum of 10% in alternative investments.  These target asset 
allocations have been determined after giving consideration to the expected returns of each asset class, the expected variability or volatility of the 
asset class returns over time, and the complementary nature or correlation of the asset classes within the portfolio.  Assets are rebalanced 
periodically to conform to policy tolerances.  The Company also employs an active management approach for the portfolio.  Each asset class is 
managed by one or more external money managers with the objective of generating returns, net of management fees, which exceed market-based 
benchmarks.  

   
The fair values of the major categories of defined benefit plan assets are presented below:  
   

   
Pension Plan Assets Measured at Fair Value  
   
The Company classifies and discloses pension plan assets in one of the following three categories:  
   
Level 1:  Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets.  
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Year  
   

Benefit  
Payments  

   
2010  

   $ 1,739 
   

2011  
   $ 1,782 

   
2012  

   $ 1,837 
   

2013  
   $ 1,853 

   
2014  

   $ 1,917 
   

2015 - 2019  
   $ 10,060 

   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Asset Category  
             

Cash and equivalents  
   $ 664 

   2.3 % 
Equity securities:  

             
U.S. companies - growth  

   5,383 
   18.5 % 

Foreign companies - growth  
   4,272 

   14.7 % 
U.S. companies - value  

   6,592 
   22.7 % 

Foreign companies - value  
   3,469 

   11.9 % 
Total equity securities  

   19,716 
   67.8 % 

Fixed income securities:  
             

Short-term investments  
   264 

   0.9 % 
Fixed income funds  

   6,649 
   22.9 % 

Total fixed income securities  
   6,913 

   23.8 % 
Other  

   1,796 
   6.2 % 

Total  
   $ 29,089 

   100 % 



   
Level 2:  Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.  
   
Level 3:  Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.  
   

The following table summarizes the fair values, and levels within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value measurements fall for 
pension plan assets at December 31, 2009:  

   

   
Defined Contribution Plan  
   

The Company also sponsors a defined contribution plan which provides for voluntary employee contributions and matching and discretionary 
employer contributions. Aggregate employer contributions were approximately $420 in 2009. The Company elected to not make any 
discretionary employer contribution for 2009.  In addition, effective at the beginning of the third quarter of 2009, the Company suspended its 
matching employer contribution as part of the Company’s cost savings plan.  On March 1, 2010, matching contributions were reinstated at 50% 
of the participant’s tax deferred contributions up to 6% of eligible compensation.  

   
12. Lease Obligations  
   

The Company leases certain office and warehouse facilities, equipment and vehicles under operating leases.  Certain of these operating leases 
contain escalation clauses, rent holidays, and/or provide the Company with a renewal option after the initial lease term.  At December 31, 2009, 
Other accrued expenses on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet included a deferred rent liability of $1,945, respectively, resulting from 
the difference between rental expense recognized on a straight-line basis and cash payments for rent.  Leasehold improvements are amortized 
over the shorter of the economic useful life of the improvements or the remaining balance of the lease term.  

   
The Company has one material operating lease commitment for its Tulsa facility.  The initial term of this lease arrangement is 15 years 

beginning January 1, 2005, with an original minimum lease commitment of $20,942.  The Company has the option to renew the lease for two 
additional five year terms.  The first 18 months of the lease was a rent holiday.  

   
For all operating lease arrangements, rental expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Rental expense was 

approximately $3,649 in 2009.  Future non-cancelable minimum lease commitments under agreements that have an original or existing term in 
excess of one year as of December 31, 2009 are as follows: 2010 — $3,214; 2011 — $3,052; 2012 — $2,831; 2013 — $2,760; 2014 — $2,478; 
and thereafter — $9,424.  

   
13.  Income Taxes  
   

The effective income tax rate from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 was 40.9%.  The Company’s effective rate 
differs from the U.S. statutory rate of 35.0% primarily as a result of foreign withholding taxes  
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December 31, 2009  
   Total  

   Level 1  
   Level 2  

   Level 3  
   

Cash and equivalents  
   $ 664 

   $ 664 
   $ —

   $ —
   

Equity securities:  
                       

U.S. companies - growth  
   5,383 

   3,383 
   2,000 

   —
   

Foreign companies - growth  
   4,272 

   2,365 
   1,907 

   —
   

U.S. companies - value  
   6,592 

   4,680 
   1,912 

   —
   

Foreign companies - value  
   3,469 

   2,448 
   1,021 

   —
   

Fixed income securities:  
                       

Short-term investments  
   264 

   —
   264 

   —
   

Fixed income funds  
   6,649 

   4,649 
   2,000 

   —
   

Other  
   1,796 

   —
   1,796 

   —
   

Total  
   $ 29,089 

   $ 18,189 
   $ 10,900 

   $ —
   



   
on royalty income, a higher effective rate at a foreign subsidiary and the impact of non-deductible expenses on the Company’s worldwide taxes.  

   
The Company was granted a five year tax holiday upon its entry into China by the Chinese taxing authority/government which would have 

commenced in the year the Company first became subject to tax.  Effective January 1, 2009, a change in the Chinese tax law required that all tax 
holidays not yet active take effect on January 1, 2009, and remain in effect for the stated period for which they were originally issued.  Under 
this arrangement, the tax holidays available to the Company’s China subsidiary will expire after December 31, 2012.  

   
The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2009 was $1,164 (including $318 of accrued interest and penalties), the 

recognition of which would have had an effect of $1,127 on the continuing operations effective tax rate.  The Company believes it is reasonably 
possible that the unrecognized tax benefit may be reduced by $206 in the next twelve months.  

   
The changes in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits not including interest and penalties, for both continuing and discontinuing 

operations, were as follows:  
   

   
The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.  The amount included in income 

tax expense from continuing operations for the year ended 2009 for interest and penalties was $318.  
   
During 2009, the Company received notification of potential tax deficiencies at its Italian subsidiary from Inland Revenue (Italy).  The 

Company recorded unrecognized tax benefits of $554 (including $239 of interest and penalties) as tax expense related to this audit.  The 
Company does not agree with the proposed adjustment and is contesting the preliminary audit report.  

   
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions.  The Company is no longer 

subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2002.  The Company is currently 
under examination for the tax years 2007 and 2008 by U.S. federal income tax authorities and for tax year 2006 by Italian income tax 
authorities.  The years 2003 — 2009 are open years available for examination by various state, local and foreign tax authorities.  

   
26  

 

      For the Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Balance at January 1  
   $ 586 

   
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year  

   116 
   

Additions for tax positions of prior years  
   273 

   
Reduction for tax positions of prior years  

   (23 ) 
Settlement  

   —
   

Lapses in applicable statutes  
   (106 ) 

Balance at December 31  
   $ 846 

   



   
The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations consists of the following:  
   

   
Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 

reporting and income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as 
follows:  

   

   
As of December 31, 2009, the Company had net operating losses (NOL’s) associated with state and local taxes of $50,048.  
   
The Company records a valuation allowance to offset any deferred tax asset if, based upon the available evidence it is more likely than not 

that some or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company has a valuation allowance at December 31, 2009 for deferred taxes 
attributed to financial reserves in China.  The valuation allowance was recorded due to prior history of operating losses and the uncertainty of 
earnings in future periods at its China facility.  At December 31, 2009, the Company has a valuation allowance of $1,276 against certain 
domestic state and local tax NOL’s because of uncertainty of future earnings in these locations and the potential for these NOL’s to lapse.  
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      Year ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Current:  
        

Federal  
   $ 2,096 

   
State and local  

   64 
   

Foreign  
   745 

   
      2,905 

   
Deferred:  

        
Federal  

   2,043 
   

State and local  
   9 

   
Foreign  

   (452 ) 

      1,600 
   

Total income tax provision  
   $ 4,505 

   

      Year ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Deferred tax assets:  
        

NOL carryforward  
   $ 1,532 

   
Accrued vacation  

   532 
   

Employee benefits  
   1,702 

   
Other accruals  

   2,139 
   

Inventory  
   2,251 

   
Subtotal deferred tax assets  

   8,156 
   

Valuation allowances  
   (1,358 ) 

Total deferred tax assets  
   6,798 

   
          
Deferred tax liabilities:  

        
Tax over book depreciation  

   5,920 
   

Tax over book amortization  
   1,792 

   
Foreign leased property  

   310 
   

Other  
   55 

   
Total deferred tax liabilities  

   8,077 
   

Net deferred tax (liabilities) assets  
   $ (1,279 ) 



   
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations differs from the amounts computed by applying the federal statutory rate as 

follows:  
   

   
The following table illustrates the domestic and foreign components of the Company’s income (loss) from continuing operations before 

income taxes:  
   

   
Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately $40,541 at December 31, 2009. These earnings are 

considered to be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes has been provided. The Company 
cannot determine in any practical manner the amount of income tax liability that would result if such earnings would be repatriated. Upon 
distribution of these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to both U.S. income taxes, which may be 
offset by foreign tax credits, and withholding taxes payable to various foreign countries.  

   
28  

 

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Income tax expense at federal statutory rate  
   $ 3,856 

   
State and local tax, net of federal tax benefit  

   47 
   

Taxes on foreign income which differ from United States statutory rate  
   389 

   
Foreign tax withholding  

   160 
   

Unrecognized tax benefits  
   533 

   
Tax credit utilization  

   (699 ) 
Other  

   219 
   

Provision for income taxes  
   $ 4,505 

   

      Year ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes:  
        

Domestic  
   $ 12,263 

   
Foreign  

   (1,245 ) 

As reported  
   $ 11,018 

   



   
14.  Earnings Per Share  
   

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed as follows:  
   

   
A weighted average of 228,044 options were not included in the calculation of diluted weighted shares outstanding because they were anti-

dilutive for the year ended December 31, 2009.  
   
15.  Related Parties  
   

The Company reported as legal expense, included in Selling, technical and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations, approximately $1,337 during 2009 to Kohrman Jackson and Krantz (KJK), our lead counsel, for legal services performed in the 
ordinary course of business for a variety of legal matters, including the current investigation by the SEC, which began in November 2006.  
Additionally, in June 2009, the Company paid $70 to KJK for legal services in connection with the Company’s new bank facility.  This payment 
is being ratably amortized, as a part of deferred financing costs, in Interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations through 
June 2012.  Approximately $22 of related party payables are included in Accounts payable, and $138 of related party accrued expenses are 
included in Accrued other, in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009.  

   
Byron Krantz, a director of the Company and a partner of KJK, beneficially owns 3.4% of the Class A common stock and 10% of the 

Series D preferred stock of the Company as of December 31, 2009.  Mr. Krantz is also a party to a stockholders agreement governing the voting 
and disposition of all shares of the Company’s voting stock owned by the parties to the agreement.  

   
On January 26, 2010 the Friction Products Co. Employees Pension Plan, a related party, purchased $1,000 of senior notes for its investment 

portfolio.  
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16.  Principal Markets and Geographic Disclosures  
   

Since its divestitures of the performance racing segment in 2008 and the precision components segment in 2007, the Company operates 
within one segment for all of 2009 called friction products.  Friction products are the replacement components used in brakes, clutches and 
transmissions to absorb vehicular energy and dissipate it through heat and normal mechanical wear.  The Company custom-designs, 
manufactures and markets these components.  Below are the principal end markets from which the Company derives its sales.  

   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  
   $ 6,513 

   
Less: Preferred stock dividends  

   150 
   

Income from continuing operations, after income taxes available to common shareholders  
   $ 6,363 

   
           
Net income  

   $ 6,377 
   

Less: Preferred stock dividends  
   150 

   
Net income available to common shareholders  

   $ 6,227 
   

           
Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousands) :  

        
Basic weighted average shares outstanding  

   8,242 
   

Diluted:  
        

Basic weighted average shares outstanding  
   8,242 

   
Dilutive effect of stock options  

   265 
   

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding  
   8,507 

   
           
Earnings per share:  

        
Basic earnings from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 0.77 
   

Discontinued operations, after income taxes  
   (0.01 ) 

Net earnings per basic share  
   $ 0.76 

   
           
Diluted earnings from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 0.75 
   

Discontinued operations, after income taxes  
   (0.02 ) 

Net earnings per diluted share  
   $ 0.73 

   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Net Sales by Market:  
        

Construction and Mining  
   $ 62,947 

   
Aircraft and Defense  

   47,373 
   

Agriculture  
   24,466 

   



   
The Company’s capital expenditures and depreciation expense are below:  
   

   
The geographic split of the Company’s net sales and property, plant and equipment, based on country of origin, is as follows:  
   

   
The Company’s other foreign operations are located in China and Canada.  
   
The Company’s largest customer, Caterpillar, represented approximately 17.3% of consolidated net sales in 2009.  
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Truck  
   16,725 

   
Performance Friction  

   11,856 
   

Specialty Friction  
   6,541 

   
Alternative Energy  

   2,494 
   

Total  
   $ 172,402 

   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Capital Expenditures  
   $ 7,518 

   
Depreciation Expense  

   7,132 
   

      Year Ended  
   

      December 31, 2009  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Net Sales:  
        

United States  
   $ 125,489 

   
Italy  

   39,554 
   

All Other Foreign  
   7,359 

   
Total  

   172,402 
   

          
Property, Plant and Equipment:  

        
United States  

   34,728 
   

Italy  
   10,150 

   
All Other Foreign  

   2,218 
   

Total  
   47,096 

   



   
17.  Supplemental Guarantor Information  
   

Each of the Guarantor Subsidiaries has fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint and several basis, to pay principal, premium, and 
interest with respect to the Company’s senior notes. The Guarantor Subsidiaries are direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the 
Company.  

   
The following supplemental consolidating condensed financial statement present:  
   
•                   Consolidating condensed Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009, consolidating condensed Statement of Operations for the year ended 

December 31, 2009 and consolidating condensed Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2009.  
   
•                   Hawk Corporation (Parent), combined Guarantor Subsidiaries and combined Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries consisting of the Company’s 

subsidiaries in Italy, Canada and China with their investments in subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method.  
   
•                   Elimination entries necessary to consolidate the financial statement of the Parent and all of its subsidiaries.  
   

The Company does not believe that separate financial statement of the Guarantor Subsidiaries provide material additional information to 
investors. Therefore, separate financial statement and other disclosures concerning the Guarantor Subsidiaries are not presented.  The 
Company’s bank facility contains covenants with respect to the Company and its subsidiaries that, among other things, would prohibit the 
payment of dividends to the Company by the subsidiaries (including Guarantor Subsidiaries) in the event of a default under the terms of the bank 
facility.  The indenture governing the senior notes permits the payment of dividends to the Company by the subsidiaries (including Guarantor 
Subsidiaries) provided that no event of default has occurred under the terms of the indenture of the senior notes.  
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Supplemental Consolidating Condensed  

Balance Sheet  
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      December 31, 2009  
   

      Parent  
   

Combined  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  
   

Combined  
Non-Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  
   Eliminations  

   Consolidated  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Assets  
                            

Current assets:  
                            

Cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 24,182 

   $ 11 
   $ 23,013 

   $ —
   $ 47,206 

   
Short-term investments  

   34,977 
   —

   953 
   —

   35,930 
   

Accounts receivable, net  
   —

   12,520 
   15,058 

   —
   27,578 

   
Inventories, net  

   —
   16,714 

   11,025 
   (244 )  27,495 

   
Deferred income taxes  

   511 
   —

   794 
   —

   1,305 
   

Other current assets  
   3,704 

   723 
   1,259 

   —
   5,686 

   
Total current assets  

   63,374 
   29,968 

   52,102 
   (244 )  145,200 

   
Investment in subsidiaries  

   49,927 
   —

   —
   (49,927 )  —

   
Inter-company advances, net  

   —
   2,738 

   (2,738 )  —
   —

   
Property, plant and equipment, net  

   —
   34,728 

   12,368 
   —

   47,096 
   

Other assets:  
                            

Finite-lived intangible assets  
   —

   6,015 
   —

   —
   6,015 

   
Other  

   5,892 
   —

   289 
   —

   6,181 
   

Total other assets  
   5,892 

   6,015 
   289 

   —
   12,196 

   
Total assets  

   $ 119,193 
   $ 73,449 

   $ 62,021 
   $ (50,171 )  $ 204,492 

   
Liabilities and shareholders’  equity  

                            
Current liabilities:  

                            
Accounts payable  

   $ 46 
   $ 9,696 

   $ 7,119 
   $ —

   $ 16,861 
   

Accrued compensation  
   2,455 

   2,599 
   2,270 

   —
   7,324 

   
Accrued interest  

   3,385 
   —

   —
   —

   3,385 
   

Accrued taxes  
   —

   56 
   345 

   (56 )  345 
   

Other accrued expenses  
   1,804 

   1,870 
   292 

   13 
   3,979 

   
Total current liabilities  

   7,690 
   14,221 

   10,026 
   (43 )  31,894 

   
Long-term liabilities:  

                            
Long-term debt  

   77,090 
   —

   —
   —

   77,090 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   2,508 

   —
   365 

   —
   2,873 

   
Other  

   4,499 
   6,534 

   4,132 
   —

   15,165 
   

Inter-company advances, net  
   (50,064 )  42,346 

   7,919 
   (201 )  —

   
Total long-term liabilities  

   34,033 
   48,880 

   12,416 
   (201 )  95,128 

   
Shareholders’  equity  

   77,470 
   10,348 

   39,579 
   (49,927 )  77,470 

   
Total liabilities and shareholders’  equity  

   $ 119,193 
   $ 73,449 

   $ 62,021 
   $ (50,171 )  $ 204,492 

   



   
Supplemental Consolidating Condensed  

Statement of Operations  
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      Year Ended December 31, 2009  
   

      Parent  
   

Combined  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  
   

Combined  
Non-Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  
   Eliminations  

   Consolidated  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Net sales  
   $ —

   $ 124,433 
   $ 51,327 

   $ (3,358 )  $ 172,402 
   

Cost of sales  
   —

   81,316 
   46,969 

   (3,358 )  124,927 
   

Gross profit  
   —

   43,117 
   4,358 

   —
   47,475 

   
Operating expenses:  

                            
Selling, technical and administrative expenses  

   21 
   25,225 

   4,992 
   —

   30,238 
   

Amortization of intangibles  
   —

   553 
   —

   —
   553 

   
Total operating expenses  

   21 
   25,778 

   4,992 
   —

   30,791 
   

Income (loss) from operations  
   (21 )  17,339 

   (634 )  —
   16,684 

   
Interest (expense) income, net  

   —
   (7,782 )  237 

   —
   (7,545 ) 

Income (loss) from equity investee  
   5,593 

   (1,356 )  —
   (4,237 )  —

   
Other income (expense), net  

   674 
   2,032 

   (827 )  —
   1,879 

   
Income (loss) from continuing operations, before 

income taxes  
   6,246 

   10,233 
   (1,224 )  (4,237 )  11,018 

   
Income tax provision (benefit)  

   (151 )  4,524 
   132 

   —
   4,505 

   
Income (loss) from continuing operations, after 

income taxes  
   6,397 

   5,709 
   (1,356 )  (4,237 )  6,513 

   
Discontinued operations, after income taxes  

   (20 )  (116 )  —
   —

   (136 ) 

Net income (loss)  
   $ 6,377 

   $ 5,593 
   $ (1,356 )  $ (4,237 )  $ 6,377 

   



   
Supplemental Consolidating Condensed  

Cash Flows Statement  
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      Year Ended December 31, 2009  
   

      Parent  
   

Combined  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  
   

Combined  
Non-Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  
   Eliminations  

   Consolidated  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing 
operations  

   $ 6,351 
   $ 6,277 

   $ 6,544 
   $ —

   $ 19,172 
   

Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued 
operations  

   —
   (136 ) —

   —
   (136 ) 

Cash flows from investing activities:  
                            

Purchases of available for sale securities  
   (173,837 ) —

   —
   —

   (173,837 ) 
Proceeds from available for sale securities  

   168,997 
   —

   —
   —

   168,997 
   

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  
   —

   (6,495 ) (1,023 ) —
   (7,518 ) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  
   —

   8 
   3 

        11 
   

Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations  
   (4,840 ) (6,487 ) (1,020 ) —

   (12,347 ) 
Net cash used in investing activities of discontinued 

operations  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   
Cash flows from financing activities:  

                            
Proceeds from stock options  

   436 
   —

   —
   —

   436 
   

Stock repurchase  
   (12,632 ) —

   —
   —

   (12,632 ) 
Receipts from government grants  

   —
   325 

   —
   —

   325 
   

Payments on long-term debt  
   (10,000 ) 

               (10,000 ) 
Payment of deferred financing fees  

   (340 ) —
   —

   —
   (340 ) 

Tax benefit from exercise of incentive stock options  
   116 

                  116 
   

Payments of preferred stock dividend  
   (150 ) —

   —
   —

   (150 ) 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities of 

continuing operations  
   (22,570 ) 325 

   —
   —

   (22,245 ) 
Net cash used in financing activities of discontinued 

operations  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  

   —
   —

   242 
   —

   242 
   

Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations  
   (21,059 ) 115 

   5,766 
   —

   (15,178 ) 
Net cash used by discontinued operations  

   —
   (136 ) —

   —
   (136 ) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  
   (21,059 ) (21 ) 5,766 

   —
   (15,314 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  
   45,241 

   32 
   17,247 

   —
   62,520 

   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  

   $ 24,182 
   $ 11 

   $ 23,013 
   $ —

   $ 47,206 
   



   
18.  Summary of Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)  
   

   
19.  Event (Unaudited) Subsequent to Date of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Report  
   

On October 15, 2010, the Company announced the signing of a definitive agreement whereby Carlisle Companies Incorporated has agreed to 
acquire Hawk Corporation, a leading worldwide supplier of friction materials for brakes, clutches and transmissions for $50.00 per share in an 
all-cash transaction.  On December 1, 2010, the acquisition of Hawk Corporation was completed by Carlisle Companies Incorporated for 
consideration of approximately $414 million.  
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      2009  
   

      March 31  
   June 30  

   September 30  
   December 31  

   
Net sales  

   $ 44,285 
   $ 39,077 

   $ 43,452 
   $ 45,588 

   
Gross profit  

   11,998 
   8,391 

   13,569 
   13,517 

   
Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   1,584 
   (372 )  3,783 

   1,518 
   

Discontinued operations, after income taxes  
   (10 )  (164 )  (13 )  51 

   
Net income  

   $ 1,574 
   $ (536 )  $ 3,770 

   $ 1,569 
   

Basic earnings per share:  
                       

Earnings per share from continuing operations  
   $ 0.18 

   $ (0.05 )  $ 0.46 
   $ 0.18 

   
Discontinued operations  

   —
   (0.02 )  —

   0.01 
   

Net earnings per basic share  
   $ 0.18 

   $ (0.07 )  $ 0.46 
   $ 0.19 

   
Diluted earnings per share:  

                       
Earnings per share from continuing operations  

   $ 0.17 
   $ (0.05 )  $ 0.45 

   $ 0.18 
   

Discontinued operations  
   —

   (0.02 )  —
   —

   
Net earnings per diluted share  

   $ 0.17 
   $ (0.07 )  $ 0.45 

   $ 0.18 
   



 
Exhibit 99.4 

   
HAWK CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  
(In Thousands, except share data)  

   

   

 

      September 30  
   

      2010  
   

      (Unaudited)  
   

Assets  
        

Current assets:  
        

Cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 47,845 

   
Short-term investments  

   25,440 
   

Accounts receivable, less allowance of $626  
   42,535 

   
Inventories:  

        
Raw materials  

   7,945 
   

Work-in-process  
   17,290 

   
Finished products  

   12,829 
   

Total inventories  
   38,065 

   
Deferred income taxes  

   1,694 
   

Other current assets  
   3,316 

   
Total current assets  

   158,895 
   

           
Property, plant and equipment:  

        
Land and improvements  

   1,159 
   

Buildings and improvements  
   19,089 

   
Machinery and equipment  

   104,493 
   

Furniture and fixtures  
   8,517 

   
Construction in progress  

   2,599 
   

      135,857 
   

Less accumulated depreciation  
   90,573 

   
Total property, plant and equipment  

   45,284 
   

           
Other assets:  

        
Finite-lived intangible assets  

   5,600 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   59 

   
Other  

   6,499 
   

Total other assets  
   12,158 

   
Total assets  

   $ 216,337 
   



   
HAWK CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  
(In Thousands, except share data)  

   

   

 

      September 30  
   

      2010  
   

      (Unaudited)  
   

Liabilities and shareholders’  equity  
        

Current liabilities:  
        

Accounts payable  
   $ 33,514 

   
Accrued compensation  

   12,089 
   

Accrued interest  
   1,261 

   
Accrued taxes  

   4,003 
   

Other accrued expenses  
   4,301 

   
Total current liabilities  

   55,168 
   

           
Long-term liabilities:  

        
Long-term debt, net of unamortized consent payment of $980  

   56,110 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   2,948 

   
Pension liabilities  

   1,090 
   

Other accrued expenses  
   12,590 

   
Total long-term liabilities  

   72,738 
   

           
Shareholders’  equity  

        
Series D preferred stock, $.01 par value; an aggregate liquidation value of $1,530, plus any unpaid dividends with 

9.8% cumulative dividend (1,530 shares authorized, issued and outstanding)  
   1 

   
Series E preferred stock, $.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding  

   —
   

           
Class A common stock, $.01 par value; 75,000,000 shares authorized; 9,187,750 issued; 7,756,763 outstanding  

   92 
   

Class B common stock, $.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding  
   —

   
Additional paid-in capital  

   55,058 
   

Retained earnings  
   59,597 

   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  

   (4,285 ) 
           
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,430,987 shares  

   (22,032 ) 
Total shareholders’  equity  

   88,431 
   

Total liabilities and shareholders’  equity  
   $ 216,337 

   



   
HAWK CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)  
(In Thousands, except per share data)  

   

   

(1)                     The summation to net earnings per diluted share does not mathematically calculate due to rounding.  
   

 

      
Nine Months Ended  

September 30  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   
Net sales  

   $ 185,233 
   $ 126,814 

   
Cost of sales  

   126,336 
   92,856 

   
Gross profit  

   58,897 
   33,958 

   
                
Operating expenses:  

             
Selling, technical and administrative expenses  

   26,568 
   21,764 

   
Amortization of finite-lived intangible assets  

   415 
   415 

   
Total operating expenses  

   26,983 
   22,179 

   
Income from operations  

   31,914 
   11,779 

   
                
Interest expense  

   (4,945 )  (6,078 )  
Interest income  

   278 
   394 

   
Other income (expense), net  

   389 
   1,706 

   
Income from continuing operations, before income taxes  

   27,636 
   7,801 

   
                
Income tax provision  

   9,917 
   2,806 

   
                
Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   17,719 
   4,995 

   
                
Loss from discontinued operations, after income tax benefit of $12 for the nine months ended 

September 30, 2010 and $100 for the nine months ended September 30, 2009  
   (21 )  (187 )  

                
Net income  

   $ 17,698 
   $ 4,808 

   
                
Earnings per share:  

             
Basic earnings per share:  

             
Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 2.25 
   $ 0.59 

   
Discontinued operations, after income taxes  

   —
   (0.02 )  

Net earnings per basic share 
   $ 2.24 

   $ 0.57 
   

                
Diluted earnings per share:  

             
Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 2.16 
   $ 0.57 

   
Discontinued operations, after income taxes  

   —
   (0.02 )  

Net earnings per diluted share  
   $ 2.16 

   $ 0.55 
   

                
Average shares outstanding — basic  

   7,840 
   8,304 

   
                
Average shares and equivalents outstanding — diluted  

   8,144 
   8,566 

   
                
Income available to common shareholders  

   $ 17,586 
   $ 4,696 

   

(1)  



   
HAWK CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)  
(In Thousands)  

   

   

   
   

HAWK CORPORATION  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDIT ED)  

September 30, 2010  
(In Thousands, except share data)  

   
1. Basis of Presentation  
   

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they 
do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all 
adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the 

      
Nine Months Ended  

September 30  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   
Cash flows from operating activities  

             
Net income  

   $ 17,698 
   $ 4,808 

   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  

             
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax  

   21 
   187 

   
Depreciation and amortization  

   6,363 
   5,988 

   
Deferred income taxes  

   (430 )  (337 )  
Amortization of discount on investments  

   (43 )  (105 )  
(Gain) loss on sale or disposal of fixed assets  

   (28 )  58 
   

Write-off of deferred financing fees and consent payment  
   694 

   —
   

Share based compensation  
   530 

   756 
   

Changes in operating assets and liabilites:  
             

Accounts receivable  
   (15,433 )  10,680 

   
Inventories  

   (10,919 )  13,010 
   

Other assets  
   1,230 

   (780 )  
Accounts payable  

   16,760 
   (14,798 )  

Accrued expenses  
   6,692 

   (7,536 )  
Pension accounts, net  

   (448 )  (3,213 )  
Other  

   273 
   1,447 

   
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations  

   22,960 
   10,165 

   
Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations  

   (21 )  (187 )  
                
Cash flows from investing activities  

             
Purchases of available for sale securities  

   (108,736 )  (108,880 )  
Proceeds from available for sale securities  

   119,452 
   106,000 

   
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  

   (3,821 )  (6,948 )  
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  

   1 
   —

   
Acquisition of business  

   (447 )  —
   

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of continuing operations  
   6,449 

   (9,828 )  
                
Cash flows from financing activities  

             
Payments on long-term debt  

   (20,000 )  —
   

Proceeds from stock options  
   432 

   429 
   

Payment of consent fee for senior notes indenture modification  
   (1,512 )  —

   
Stock repurchase  

   (7,247 )  (11,245 )  
Tax benefit from exercise of incentive stock options  

   664 
   —

   
Receipts from government grants  

   —
   225 

   
Payments of deferred financing fees  

   —
   (340 )  

Payments of preferred stock dividends  
   (112 )  (112 )  

Net cash used in financing activities of continuing operations  
   (27,775 )  (11,043 )  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  
   (974 )  723 

   
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations  

   660 
   (9,983 )  

Net cash used in discontinued operations  
   (21 )  (187 )  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  
   639 

   (10,170 )  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  

   47,206 
   62,520 

   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  

   $ 47,845 
   $ 52,350 

   



nine month period ended September 30, 2010 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full year ending 
December 31, 2010. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto in the Form 10-K for Hawk 
Corporation (the Company or Hawk) for the year ended December 31, 2009.  
   

Hawk Corporation, through the businesses that comprise its friction products segment, designs, engineers, manufactures and markets 
specialized components used in a variety of off-highway, on-highway, industrial, aircraft, agricultural and performance applications. Friction 
products are the replacement components used in brakes, clutches and transmissions to absorb vehicular energy and dissipate it through heat and 
normal mechanical wear. The Company’s revenue is generated primarily in the U.S. and Italy. The Company’s largest customer, Caterpillar Inc., 
represented approximately 25.8% and 15.8% of consolidated net sales in the nine month periods ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 
2009, respectively.  
   

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying financial statements.  
   
2. Subsequent Event  
   

On October 14, 2010, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (Merger Agreement) with Carlisle Companies 
Incorporated (Carlisle), a publicly traded Delaware corporation and HC Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Carlisle (the Purchaser). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Carlisle has commenced a tender offer to purchase all of the outstanding 
shares of the Company’s Class A common stock at a price of $50.00 per share, net to the seller in cash, without interest, less any applicable 
withholding taxes, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Offer to Purchase, dated November 1, 2010 (the Offer to 
Purchase) and in the related Letter of Transmittal (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the Letter of Transmittal, which together with 
the Offer to Purchase constitute the Offer), each of which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on November 1, 2010. 
The Merger Agreement provides, among other things, that following the consummation of the Offer and subject to the satisfaction and waiver of 
the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement and in accordance with the relevant provisions the Delaware General Corporate Law and other 
applicable law, the Purchaser will merge with and into the Company, with the Company being the surviving corporation (the Merger and 
together with the Offer and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the Transaction).  
   

The Company expects the Offer and the Merger to be completed during the fourth calendar quarter of 2010. The consummation of the 
Offer and Merger are subject to various closing conditions, including the tender of a majority of the shares of the Company’s Class A common 
stock, the expiration of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and other 
customary conditions. The Offer is not subject to a financing condition.  
   
3. Recent Accounting Developments  
   

There were no new significant accounting updates or guidance that became effective for the Company commencing with its third quarter of 
2010. The Company’s management does not believe that any recently  
   

 



   
issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards, if currently adopted, would have a material effect on the accompanying financial statements.  
   
4. Discontinued Operations  

   
There are no remaining assets or liabilities classified as discontinued operations recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 

30, 2010.  Through September 30, 2010, the Company continues to make adjustments to amounts previously reported as discontinued operations 
and incur legal and professional expenses associated with the finalization of legal matters and closure of its legal presence in Mexico. This 
residual activity is included in the following summary of the Company’s results of discontinued operations:  
   

   
5. Fair Value Measurements  
   

The Company follows the accounting guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures for all financial assets and liabilities that are 
recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis or on a non-recurring basis during the reporting period. The fair value is an exit price, 
representing the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
based upon the best use of the asset or liability at the measurement date.  
   

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, short and long-term investments, short-term trade receivables, 
short-term notes receivable, accounts payable and debt instruments. For short-term instruments, other than those required to be reported at fair 
value on a recurring basis and for which additional disclosures are included below, management concluded the historical carrying value is a 
reasonable estimate of fair value because of the short period of time between the origination of such instruments and their expected realization.  
   

The accounting guidance establishes a three-tier hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs in measuring fair value. The Company’s financial 
instruments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels that 
may be used to measure fair value are as follows:  
   
Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
   

Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 
quoted prices that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full 
term of the assets or liabilities.  

   
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or 

liabilities.  
   

There have been no changes in the methodologies used at September 30, 2010. Following is a description of the valuation methodologies 
used for assets measured at fair value as of September 30, 2010:  
   

Money market funds : Valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares based on the closing quoted price reported on the active market on 
which the individual securities are traded.  
   

 

      Nine Months Ended  
   

      September 30  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   
               
Loss from discontinued operations, before income taxes  

   $ (33 )  $ (287 ) 
Income tax benefit  

   (12 )  (100 ) 
               

Loss from discontinued operations, after income taxes  
   $ (21 )  $ (187 ) 



   
Commercial paper : Corporate debt securities rated at least “A1” by Standard & Poors and “P1” by Moody’s rating services having 

maturities not exceeding 90 days. The fair values of obligations issued by U.S. corporations held by the Company were determined by obtaining 
quoted prices from nationally recognized securities broker-dealers.  
   

Mutual funds : Valued at the NAV of shares based on the closing quoted price reported on the active market on which the individual 
securities are traded.  
   

Guaranteed income fund: Valued at contract value which approximates fair value based on the nature of the fund. This fund is a stable 
value fund designed to provide safety of principal, liquidity and a competitive rate of return (see Guaranteed Income Fund below for further 
information related to the valuation of this investment).  
   

The following tables set forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were recorded at fair value on a recurring basis as of 
September 30, 2010:  
   

   

   

 

September 30, 2010  
   Total  

   Level 1  
   Level 2  

   Level 3  
   

Assets:  
                       

Money market funds  
   4,976 

   4,976 
   —

   —
   

Commercial paper  
   19,996 

   —
   19,996 

   —
   

Other trading(1)  
                       

Guaranteed income fund  
   1,012 

   —
   —

   1,012 
   

Mutual funds:  
                       

Growth funds (2)  
   1,500 

   1,500 
   —

   —
   

Value funds (3)  
   697 

   697 
   —

   —
   

Index fund (4)  
   140 

   140 
   —

   —
   

International fund (5)  
   516 

   516 
   —

   —
   

Fixed income fund (6)  
   119 

   119 
   —

   —
   

Specialty fund — real estate (7)  
   112 

   112 
   —

   —
   

Total assets at fair value  
   $ 29,068 

   $ 8,060 
   $ 19,996 

   $ 1,012 
   

                          
Liabilities:  

                       
Deferred compensation plan liability(1)  

   $ 4,096 
   $ 3,084 

   $ —
   $ 1,012 

   
Total liabilities at fair value  

   $ 4,096 
   $ 3,084 

   $ —
   $ 1,012 

   

(1)  Other trading assets represent mutual fund assets held in a rabbi trust to fund deferred compensation plan liabilities and are included as a 
component of Other long-term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2010. The deferred compensation plan 
liability is the Company’s liability under its deferred compensation plan and is included in Other long-term accrued expenses in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2010.  

      
(2)  Growth funds seek long-term growth of capital. The funds will normally invest at least 80% of its assets in common stocks of large, mid-

cap or small-cap companies based on the defined focus of the fund.  
      
(3)  Value funds seek high current income in addition to long-term capital appreciation. These accounts primarily invest in dividend-paying 

common and preferred stocks which are expected to provide current income and consistent, stable returns.  
      
(4)  The index fund seeks to mirror the returns of the S&P 500 Index. The fund normally invests at least 80% of its assets in securities included 

in the S&P 500 according to each security’s weighting in the index.  
      
(5)  The international fund seeks long-term capital appreciation and some current income by investing worldwide with normally at least 50% of 

its assets invested outside the U.S. The fund may invest in debt securities of any maturity or quality and illiquid securities. International 
investing presents certain unique risks not associated with domestic investments, including currency fluctuation and political and economic 
changes, which may result in greater share price volatility.  



   

   
At September 30, 2010, the fair values of the Company’s money market funds and the majority of certain other trading assets are 

determined based on quoted prices in active markets and have been classified as Level 1. The other trading securities are maintained for the 
future payments under the Company’s deferred compensation plan, which is structured as a rabbi trust. The investments are all managed by a 
third party and, with the exception of the guaranteed income fund whose valuation is discussed further below, valued based on the underlying 
fair value of each mutual fund held by the trust, for which there are active quoted markets. The related deferred compensation liabilities are 
valued based on the underlying investment selections held in each participant’s shadow account. Investment funds held by the rabbi trust, for 
which there is an active quoted market, mirror the investment options selected by participants in the deferred compensation plan. The majority of 
the Company’s deferred compensation liability is comprised of mutual funds and is classified as Level 1. The total net realized and unrealized 
gains totaled $196 and $474 for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and are included in Other income (expense), 
net in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. Offsetting entries to the deferred compensation liability and compensation expense 
within Selling, technical and administrative expenses, for the same amounts were also recorded during the nine months ended September 30, 
2010, and 2009, respectively. The fair value of a guaranteed income fund maintained in the rabbi trust and reported in Other trading assets in the 
table above, and the related deferred compensation liability have been classified as Level 3.  

   
At September 30, 2010 certain of the Company’s financial assets were classified as Level 2. Those assets were initially valued at the 

transaction price and subsequently valued typically utilizing third party pricing services. The pricing services use many inputs to determine 
value, including reportable trades, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, and other industry and economic events. The Company validates the prices 
provided by its third party pricing services by reviewing their pricing methods and matrices, obtaining market values from other pricing sources, 
and analyzing pricing data in certain instances. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value. 
Accordingly, the fair value estimates provided herein were not necessarily indicative of the amount that the Company or its debt holders could 
realize in a current market exchange. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the 
estimated fair value. After completing its validation procedures, the Company did not adjust or override any fair value measurements provided 
by its pricing services at either September 30, 2010.  

   
During the period ended September 30, 2010, there were no transfers of financial assets between Level 1 and Level 2.  

   
Level 3 — Gains and Losses  

   
The table below sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the deferred compensation plan’s Level 3 assets for the nine months 

ended September 30, 2010:  
   

   
Guaranteed Income Fund  
   

The deferred compensation plan has entered into an investment contract, the Guaranteed Income Fund (fund), with Prudential Retirement 
Services, Inc. (Prudential). Prudential maintains the contributions to this fund  
   

 

(6)  The fixed income fund seeks current income consistent with preservation of capital. It normally invests at least 80% of assets in bonds of 
which at least 60% of assets in bonds and debt securities rated “A”  or better at the time of investment.  

      
(7)  The specialty — real estate fund seeks long-term capital appreciation with current income as a secondary objective. The fund invests 

mainly in securities issued by real estate investment trusts and at least 80% of assets in equities issued by companies in the real estate 
industry.  

      Guaranteed  
   

      Income Fund  
   

Balance — January 1, 2010  
   $ 480 

   
Realized gains  

   —
   

Unrealized gains / (losses) relating to instruments still held at reporting date  
   —

   
Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements (net)  

   532 
   

Balance — September 30, 2010  
   $ 1,012 

   



   
in a general account, which is credited with earnings on the underlying investments and charged for participant withdrawals and administrative 
expenses.  

   
The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2010 presents the fund at contract value, which approximates fair value. Contract 

value is the amount deferred compensation plan participants would receive if they were to initiate permitted transactions under the terms of the 
plan. Contract value represents contributions made under the contract, plus earnings and transfers in, less participant withdrawals, administrative 
expenses and transfers out. Prudential is contractually obligated to repay the principal and a specified interest rate that is guaranteed to the plan. 
Participants may ordinarily direct the withdrawal or transfer of all or a portion of their investment at contract value. However, Prudential has the 
right to defer certain disbursements (excluding retirement, termination, and death or disability disbursements) or transfers from the fund when 
total amounts disbursed from the pool in a given calendar year exceed 10% of the total assets in that pool on January 1 of that year. The 
Company does not believe that any events that would limit the deferred compensation plan’s ability to transact at contract value with participants 
are probable of occurring.  

   
There are no reserves against contract value for credit risk of the contract issuer or otherwise. The average annual yield and crediting 

interest rate of the fund was approximately 2.60% for the trailing twelve months ended September 30, 2010. The crediting interest rate is based 
on a formula agreed upon with Prudential, based on the yields of the underlying investments and considering factors such as projected 
investment earnings, the current interest environment, investment expenses, and a profit and risk component. The rate may never be less than 
1.50% nor may it be reduced by more than 2.10% during any calendar year. Interest rates are declared in advance and guaranteed for six month 
periods.  
   
Long-Term Financial Instruments  

   
The carrying value and the fair value as determined by a third-party pricing service of non-current financial liabilities that qualify as 

financial instruments are reported in the table below:  
   

   

(1)                Long-term debt of $56,110 as reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2010 includes $980 of unamortized consent 
payments, which is accounted for as a debt valuation account.  

   
6. Investments  
   

The Company determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation as of 
each balance sheet date. At September 30, 2010, the Company accounted for all of its short-term investments as available-for-sale. Available-
for-sale securities are reported at fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses, net of tax, included in Accumulated other comprehensive 
loss in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amortized cost of debt securities in this category is adjusted for the amortization of any discount or 
premium to maturity computed under the effective interest method. Dividend and interest income, including the amortization of any discount or 
premium, as well as realized gains or losses, are included in Interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Both the cost of any 
security sold and the amount reclassified out of Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income into earnings is based on the specific 
identification method.  
   

The following is a summary of the Company’s available-for-sale securities as of September 30, 2010, by contractual maturity dates:  
   

 

      September 30, 2010  
   

      Carrying Value  
   Fair Value  

   
Long-term financial liabilities  

             
Long-term debt (1)  

   $ 57,090 
   $ 57,090 

   



   

   
As of September 30, 2010, there is an unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities of $2 ($1 net of tax), which was included in 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. Unrealized gains of $10 ($6 net of tax) and unrealized 
losses of $106 ($68 net of tax) were reclassified out of Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income and into earnings during the nine 
months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  

   
At September 30, 2010, the Company had one investment with an amortized cost totaling $19,998 that was in an unrealized loss position 

totaling $2 and the Company determined that the gross unrealized loss on this investment is temporary in nature. The gross unrealized loss on 
this investment was due to changes in interest rates and, at September 30, 2010, the Company had both the intent and ability to hold this 
investment through its maturity date in the fourth quarter of 2010, at which time it expects to receive the full maturity value of $20,000.  

   
7. Financing Arrangements  

   
On February 8, 2010, the Company announced that it was soliciting consents from holders of $75,740 of its senior notes to effect an 

amendment, allowing the Company to repurchase up to $20,000 of its outstanding common stock, to the indenture governing the senior notes. 
On February 23, 2010, $75,585 of the senior notes consented and a fee of $1,512 was paid to the consenting senior note holders and the 
Company entered into a supplemental indenture to allow for the stock repurchase. The consent fee is accounted for as a debt valuation account 
and is being amortized over the remaining life of the outstanding senior notes as interest expense.  

   
In May 2010, the Company purchased $20,000 of its outstanding senior notes in the open market. These notes have not been formally 

retired by the Company, but have been treated as an extinguishment of debt for accounting purposes, as the Company has been released from 
being the primary obligor under the liability. The Company reported a loss on extinguishment of debt of $694 comprised of a pro-rata portion of 
unamortized debt issuance costs and unamortized consent fees which was included in Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, and a commission expense of $50, which is included in Selling, 
technical and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2010. As of 
September 30, 2010, $980 of the consent fee remains to be amortized. After taking into account the above transactions, the remaining principal 
balance of senior notes outstanding as of September 30, 2010 is $57,090.  

   
8. Transfers of Financial Assets — Accounts Receivable Factoring Programs  

   
The Company accounts for its trade accounts receivable factoring programs as required under ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing and, 

effective January 1, 2010, the Company prospectively adopted the guidance under ASU No. 2009-16, Accounting for Transfers of Financial 
Assets .  

   
As part of its working capital management, the Company sells certain domestic and Italian trade accounts receivable at its discretion to 

unrelated third-party financial institutions without recourse. Under the terms of the factoring agreements, the Company retains no rights or 
interest, has no obligations with respect to the sold receivables, and does not service the receivables after the sale. As such, the factoring of trade 
accounts receivable under these agreements is accounted for as a sale. The amount sold varies each month based on the amount of underlying 
receivables, the cash flow needs of the Company and limitations imposed under the terms of the Company’s credit and factoring facilities. 
Specifically, under the terms of Company’s domestic bank facility, the maximum amount of U.S. outstanding advances at any one time is 
$10,000. Under the terms of the Italian factoring agreement, the maximum available amount of the Italian-based outstanding advances is $5,601 
(4,115 Euro) and $6,931 (4,750 Euro) at September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, which limitation is subject to change based on the level of 
eligible receivables and at the discretion of the third-party financial institution. The Company is not obligated to draw cash immediately upon the 
factoring of accounts receivable under the terms of its Italian factoring agreement, and pays an administrative fee each month over the term of 
the agreement based on the dollar value of receivables sold. Fees related to the Italian factoring agreement for the nine months ended September 
30, 2010 and 2009 were $34 and $31, respectively, and are included in Selling, technical and administrative expenses in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.  
   

 

      Available-for-Sale Securities  
   

            Gross Unrealized  
   Gross Unrealized  

   Estimated Fair Value  
   

September 30, 2010  
   Amortized Cost  

   Gains  
   Losses  

   (Net Carrying Amount)  
   

Other debt securities — due in one year or 
less  

   $ 25,442 
   $ —

   $ (2 )  $ 25,440 
   



   
During the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company sold $28,842 and $5,499, respectively of trade accounts 

receivable under its factoring agreements. The sale of these receivables accelerated the collection of the Company’s cash and reduced credit 
exposure. The receivables sold pursuant to these factoring agreements have been recorded as a reduction of trade accounts receivable and as cash 
provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. At September 30, 2010, the Company had $3,034 of receivables 
outstanding under receivable factoring agreements, net of advances received, which is included in Accounts receivable in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. For transactions in which cash is drawn immediately, proceeds on the sale reflect the face value of the receivable less a discount. 
This discount is recorded as a loss in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period of the sale. The Company reported a loss on the 
sale of receivables for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 of $55 and $0, respectively; this amount is recorded in Other income 
(expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  
   
9. Comprehensive Income  
   
Comprehensive income is as follows:  
   

   
10. Stock Compensation Plan  
   

The Company’s Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan (Plan), provides for the granting of up to 1,315,000 shares of 
common stock of the Company in the form of stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights (SARs) and performance-based 
awards. The Plan had 499,483 shares available for grants as of September 30, 2010. Options generally vest over a five year period after the grant 
date and expire no more than ten years after the grant date.  
   
Stock Options  
   

The Company recognized $431 and $756 of compensation expense for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2010 and September 
30, 2009, respectively. Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $432 and $429 for the nine month periods ended September 
30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and the intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $1,897 and $329 for the nine months ended September 
30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. As of September 30, 2010, there was $599 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the non-vested 
share-based compensation arrangements under the Company’s stock compensation plans. The remaining cost is expected to be recognized over 
the next 1.9 years. The Company classifies its stock option expense principally in Selling, technical and administrative expenses in its 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.  
   
Stock-based option activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2010, was as follows:  
   

   

 

      Nine Months Ended  
   

      September 30  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   
Net income  

   $ 17,698 
   $ 4,808 

   
Amortization of prior service cost and net loss, net of tax  

   644 
   718 

   
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities, net of tax  

   6 
   (16 ) 

Foreign currency translation (loss) gain  
   (1,654 )  1,753 

   
Comprehensive income  

   $ 16,694 
   $ 7,263 

   

                  Weighted Average  
   Aggregate  

   
            Weighted Average  

   Remaining Contract  
   Intrinsic Value  

   
      Options  

   Exercise Price  
   Term  

   (in thousands)  
   

Options outstanding at January 1, 2010  
   729,179 

   $ 8.72 
              

Granted  
   —

   —
              

Exercised  
   (115,959 )  3.74 

              
Forfeited or expired  

   —
   —

              
Options outstanding at September 30, 2010  

   613,220 
   $ 9.66 

   4.6 yrs.  
   $ 20,609 

   
                           

Exercisable at September 30, 2010  
   452,219 

   $ 7.53 
   3.5 yrs.  

   $ 16,164 
   



   
There were no options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2010.  
   

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax difference between the $43.27 closing price of shares of 
common stock of the Company on September 30, 2010, over the exercise price of the stock option, multiplied by the number of options 
outstanding and exercisable. The aggregate intrinsic value is not recorded for financial accounting purposes and the value changes based on the 
daily changes in the fair market value of the Company’s shares of common stock.  
   
Restricted Stock  
   

On February 18, 2010, under the Plan, 10,000 shares of service-vested restricted common stock awards were issued to certain employees 
of the Company. These restricted stock awards vest in equal one-fifth installments on February 18, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014. 
Additionally, the Company paid the taxes due on the taxable portion of the total award on behalf of the employees. Compensation expense on 
these awards is being recognized from the date of grant through the end of the vesting period on a straight-line basis. The fair value of this 
restricted stock award was measured using the closing price of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant of $18.71 per share. The 
Company recorded $59 of compensation expense for the restricted stock awards for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and $135 for the 
income tax gross-up paid on behalf of the participants for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively, within Selling, technical, and 
administrative expense in its Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of September 30, 2010, there were 8,000 shares of restricted stock 
outstanding and unvested. As of September 30, 2010, the remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to the unvested restricted stock 
awards was $128, which is expected to be recognized over the remaining vesting period of 3.4 years.  
   

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2010:  
   

   
The intrinsic value of the unvested restricted shares as of September 30, 2010 was $346.  
   
11. Shareholders’ Equity  

   
On November 24, 2008, the Company announced a plan, approved by the Board of Directors, to repurchase up to $15,000 of its Class A 

common stock in the open market, through privately negotiated transactions or otherwise in accordance with securities laws and regulations. In 
the first quarter of 2010, the Company purchased $317 of its common stock under the plan. As of January 11, 2010, all $15,000 had been spent 
by the Company to repurchase 1,090,271 shares of its Class A common stock at market prices and the plan expired.  

   
On February 19, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan (the new plan) to repurchase up to $25,000 of its shares of Class 

A common stock in the open market, through privately negotiated transactions, through a trading plan satisfying the safe harbor provisions of 
Rule 10b5-1 and Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), or otherwise in accordance with 
securities laws and regulations. At September 30, 2010, the provisions of the Company’s credit facility, indenture and supplemental indenture 
allowed the Company to purchase up to the board-approved plan amount of $25,000 of its common stock. The Company made no purchases of 
its common stock during the three months ended September 30, 2010. From February 19, 2010 through June 30, 2010, the Company purchased 
$6,930 of its common stock  
   

   
   

under the new plan.  
   

12. Employee Benefits  
   

A summary of the components of net periodic benefit cost of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans for the periods presented in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations is as follows:  
   

            Grant Date  
   

      Shares  
   Fair Value  

   
Unvested balance as of January 1, 2010  

   —
   —

   
Granted  

   10,000 
   $ 187 

   
Vested  

   (2,000 )  $ (37 )  
Unvested balance as of September 30, 2010  

   8,000 
   $ 150 

   

         Nine Months Ended  
      

         September 30  
      

         2010  
   2009  

      
                      
   Components of net periodic pension cost:  

                
   Service cost  

   $ 312 
   $ 253 

      
   Interest cost  

   1,378 
   1,363 

      
   Expected return on plan assets  

   (1,786 )  (1,319 ) 
   

   Amortization of prior service cost  
   180 

   180 
      

   Recognized net actuarial loss  
   534 

   924 
      

   Settlement expense  
   189 

   —
      

   Net periodic pension cost of defined benefit plans  
   $ 807 

   $ 1,401 
      



   
During the first nine months of 2010, the Company’s Canadian pension plan incurred a partial settlement of its projected benefit obligation 

resulting from a significant lump sum death benefit distribution. The settlement expense of $189 has been recorded as a component of Cost of 
sales in the 2010 Consolidated Statement of Operations.  

   
The Company contributed $1,267 of cash in the first nine months of 2010 to fund its defined benefit pension plans for the 2009 and 2010 

plan years based on revised funding requirements provided by its third party actuaries, and anticipates contributing an additional $49 in cash 
during the remainder of 2010 for the 2010 plan year, for total cash contributions of $1,314.  

   
13. Income Taxes  
   

The effective income tax rate from continuing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, was 35.9%, compared to 36.0% 
for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. The Company’s effective rate differs from the U.S. statutory rate of 35.0% primarily as a result 
of the impact of non-deductible expenses on the Company’s worldwide taxes.  

   
The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of September 30, 2010 was $692 (including $138 of accrued interest and penalties) the 

recognition of which would have had an effect of $644 on the continuing operations effective tax rate. The change in the unrecognized tax 
benefits from December 31, 2009 was due primarily to the Company’s settlement of its Italian tax audit, which reduced the unrecognized tax 
benefits by $438 (including $93 of accrued interest and penalties). The Company believes it is reasonably possible that the unrecognized tax 
benefit may be reduced by $259 in the next twelve months primarily for issues that lapse due to statutes.  

   
The Company recorded an adjustment to deferred taxes for a foreign subsidiary which increased the tax provision $193 for the nine months 

ended September 30, 2010. The Company does not anticipate any further adjustments related to this matter.  
   
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is currently 

not under examination for income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it files. The years 2003 — 2009 are open years available for examination by 
various state, local and foreign tax authorities.  

   

 



   
14. Earnings Per Share  

   
Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed as follows:  
   

   

(1)           The summation to net earnings per diluted share does not mathematically calculate due to rounding.  

   
A weighted average of 7,112 options were not included in the calculation of diluted weighted shares outstanding because they were anti-dilutive 
for the nine months ended September 30, 2010. A weighted average of  251,044 options were not included in the calculation of diluted weighted 
shares outstanding because they were anti-dilutive for the nine months ended September 30, 2009, respectively.  
   

On February 18, 2010, the Company issued 10,000 shares of common stock from treasury to certain employees as a restricted stock award 
under the Company’s Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan. These awarded shares are included in the basic and diluted 
weighted average shares outstanding from the period of time outstanding. 20% of these awarded shares vested immediately and the remaining 
shares vest ratably over the next four years from the grant date. No forfeitures are anticipated over the vesting period. All restricted shares 
include the right to vote and the right to receive cash and stock dividends.  

   

 

         2010  
   2009  

      
   Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 17,719 
   $ 4,995 

      
   Less: Preferred stock dividends  

   112 
   112 

      
                      

   
Income from continuing operations, after income taxes available to common 

shareholders  
   $ 17,607 

   $ 4,883 
      

                      
   Net income  

   $ 17,698 
   $ 4,808 

      
   Less: Preferred stock dividends  

   112 
   112 

      
   Net income available to common shareholders  

   $ 17,586 
   $ 4,696 

      
                      
   Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousands) :  

                
   Basic weighted average shares outstanding  

   7,840 
   8,304 

      
                      
   Diluted:  

                
   Basic weighted average shares outstanding  

   7,840 
   8,304 

      
   Dilutive effect of stock options  

   304 
   262 

      
   Diluted weighted average shares outstanding  

   8,144 
   8,566 

      
                      
   Earnings per share:  

                
   Basic earnings from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 2.25 
   $ 0.59 

      
   Discontinued operations, after income taxes  

   —
   (0.02 ) 

   
   Net earnings per basic share(1)  

   $ 2.24 
   $ 0.57 

      
                      
   Diluted earnings from continuing operations, after income taxes  

   $ 2.16 
   $ 0.57 

      
   Discontinued operations, after income taxes  

   —
   (0.02 ) 

   
   Net earnings per diluted share  

   $ 2.16 
   $ 0.55 

      



   
15. Supplemental Guarantor Information  

   
Each of the Guarantor Subsidiaries has fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint and several basis, to pay principal, premium, and 

interest with respect to the Company’s senior notes. The Guarantor Subsidiaries are direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the 
Company.  

   
The following supplemental consolidating condensed financial statements present:  
   

   
The Company does not believe that separate financial statements of the Guarantor Subsidiaries provide material additional information to 

investors. Therefore, separate financial statements and other disclosures concerning the Guarantor Subsidiaries are not presented. The 
Company’s bank facility contains covenants with respect to the Company and its subsidiaries that, among other things, would prohibit the 
payment of dividends to the Company by the subsidiaries (including Guarantor Subsidiaries) in the event of a default under the terms of the bank 
facility. The indenture governing the senior notes permits the payment of dividends to the Company by the subsidiaries (including Guarantor 
Subsidiaries) provided that no event of default has occurred under the terms of the indenture of the senior notes.  

   

 

•  

   

Consolidating condensed Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2010, consolidating condensed Statements of Operations for the nine 
months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 and consolidating condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2010 and 2009.  

         
•  

   
Hawk Corporation (Parent) combined Guarantor Subsidiaries and combined Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries consisting of the 
Company’s subsidiaries in Italy, Canada and China with their investments in subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method.  

         
•  

   Elimination entries necessary to consolidate the financial statements of the Parent and all of its subsidiaries.  



   
Supplemental Consolidating Condensed  

Balance Sheet  
   

   

 

      September 30, 2010  
   

            Combined  
   Combined  

               
            Guarantor  

   Non-Guarantor  
               

      Parent  
   Subsidiaries  

   Subsidiaries  
   Eliminations  

   Consolidated  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Assets  
                            

Current assets:  
                            

Cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 24,816 

   $ 2 
   $ 23,027 

   $ —
   $ 47,845 

   
Short-term investments  

   19,995 
   —

   5,445 
   —

   25,440 
   

Accounts receivable, net  
   —

   20,162 
   22,373 

   —
   42,535 

   
Inventories, net  

   —
   25,126 

   13,242 
   (303 )  38,065 

   
Deferred income taxes  

   932 
   —

   762 
   —

   1,694 
   

Other current assets  
   554 

   542 
   2,220 

   —
   3,316 

   
Total current assets  

   46,297 
   45,832 

   67,069 
   (303 )  158,895 

   
Investment in subsidiaries  

   75,800 
   —

   —
   (75,800 )  —

   
Inter-company advances, net  

   —
   2,763 

   (2,763 )  —
   —

   
                               
Property, plant and equipment, net  

   —
   33,107 

   12,177 
   —

   45,284 
   

Other assets:  
                            

Finite-lived intangible assets  
   —

   5,600 
   —

   —
   5,600 

   
Other  

   6,499 
   —

   59 
   —

   6,558 
   

Total other assets  
   6,499 

   5,600 
   59 

   —
   12,158 

   
Total assets  

   $ 128,596 
   $ 87,302 

   $ 76,542 
   $ (76,103 )  $ 216,337 

   
                               
Liabilities and shareholders’  equity  

                            
Current liabilities:  

                            
Accounts payable  

   $ 120 
   $ 19,086 

   $ 14,308 
   $ —

   $ 33,514 
   

Accrued compensation  
   4,275 

   4,552 
   3,262 

   —
   12,089 

   
Accrued interest  

   1,261 
   —

   —
   —

   1,261 
   

Accrued taxes  
   1,770 

   —
   2,231 

   2 
   4,003 

   
Other accrued expenses  

   1,855 
   2,095 

   339 
   12 

   4,301 
   

Total current liabilities  
   9,281 

   25,733 
   20,140 

   14 
   55,168 

   
Long-term liabilities:  

                            
Long-term debt, net  

   56,110 
   —

   —
   —

   56,110 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   2,601 

   —
   347 

   —
   2,948 

   
Other  

   4,428 
   5,542 

   3,710 
   —

   13,680 
   

Inter-company advances, net  
   (32,255 )  23,812 

   8,760 
   (317 )  —

   
Total long-term liabilities  

   30,884 
   29,354 

   12,817 
   (317 )  72,738 

   
Shareholders’  equity  

   88,431 
   32,215 

   43,585 
   (75,800 )  88,431 

   
Total liabilities and shareholders’  equity  

   $ 128,596 
   $ 87,302 

   $ 76,542 
   $ (76,103 )  $ 216,337 

   



   
Supplemental Consolidating Condensed  

Statement of Operations  
   

   

 

      Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010  
   

            Combined  
   Combined  

               
            Guarantor  

   Non-Guarantor  
               

      Parent  
   Subsidiaries  

   Subsidiaries  
   Eliminations  

   Consolidated  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Net sales  
   $ —

   $ 127,272 
   $ 62,706 

   $ (4,745 )  $ 185,233 
   

Cost of sales  
   —

   81,545 
   49,536 

   (4,745 )  126,336 
   

Gross profit  
   —

   45,727 
   13,170 

   —
   58,897 

   
Operating expenses:  

                            
Selling, technical and administrative expenses  

   —
   21,699 

   4,869 
   —

   26,568 
   

Amortization of intangibles  
   —

   415 
   —

   —
   415 

   
Total operating expenses  

   —
   22,114 

   4,869 
   —

   26,983 
   

Income from operations  
   —

   23,613 
   8,301 

   —
   31,914 

   
Interest (expense) income, net  

   —
   (4,874 )  207 

   —
   (4,667 ) 

Income from equity investee  
   17,698 

   5,483 
   —

   (23,181 )  —
   

Other income (expense), net  
   —

   388 
   1 

   —
   389 

   
Income from continuing operations, before income taxes 

   17,698 
   24,610 

   8,509 
   (23,181 )  27,636 

   
Income tax provision  

   —
   6,891 

   3,026 
   —

   9,917 
   

Income from continuing operations, after income taxes  
   17,698 

   17,719 
   5,483 

   (23,181 )  17,719 
   

Loss from discontinued operations, after income tax 
benefit  

   —
   (21 )  —

   —
   (21 ) 

Net income  
   $ 17,698 

   $ 17,698 
   $ 5,483 

   $ (23,181 )  $ 17,698 
   



   
Supplemental Consolidating Condensed  

Statement of Operations  
   

   

   
Supplemental Consolidating Condensed  

Cash Flows Statement  
   

      Nine Months Ended September 30, 2009  
   

            Combined  
   Combined  

               
            Guarantor  

   Non-Guarantor  
               

      Parent  
   Subsidiaries  

   Subsidiaries  
   Eliminations  

   Consolidated  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Net sales  
   $ —

   $ 92,558 
   $ 36,423 

   $ (2,167 )  $ 126,814 
   

Cost of sales  
   —

   60,998 
   34,025 

   (2,167 )  92,856 
   

Gross profit  
   —

   31,560 
   2,398 

   —
   33,958 

   
Operating expenses:  

                            
Selling, technical and administrative expenses  

   —
   18,258 

   3,506 
   —

   21,764 
   

Amortization of intangibles  
   —

   415 
   —

   —
   415 

   
Total operating expenses  

   —
   18,673 

   3,506 
   —

   22,179 
   

Income (loss) from operations  
   —

   12,887 
   (1,108 )  —

   11,779 
   

Interest (expense) income, net  
   —

   (5,884 )  200 
   —

   (5,684 ) 
Income (loss) from equity investee  

   4,808 
   (1,389 )  —

   (3,419 )  —
   

Other income (expense), net  
   —

   2,039 
   (333 )  —

   1,706 
   

Income (loss) from continuing operations, before 
income taxes  

   4,808 
   7,653 

   (1,241 )  (3,419 )  7,801 
   

Income tax provision (benefit)  
   —

   2,658 
   148 

   —
   2,806 

   
Income (loss) from continuing operations, after income 

taxes  
   4,808 

   4,995 
   (1,389 )  (3,419 )  4,995 

   
Loss from discontinued operations, after income tax 

benefit  
   —

   (187 )  —
   —

   (187 ) 

Net income (loss)  
   $ 4,808 

   $ 4,808 
   $ (1,389 )  $ (3,419 )  $ 4,808 

   

      Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010  
   

                  Combined  
               

            Combined  
   Non-  

               
            Guarantor  

   Guarantor  
               

      Parent  
   Subsidiaries  

   Subsidiaries  
   Eliminations  

   Consolidated  
   

      (dollars in thousands)  
   

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing 
operations  

   $ 13,376 
   $ 1,941 

   $ 7,643 
   $ —

   $ 22,960 
   

Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued 
operations  

   —
   (21 )  —

   —
   (21 ) 

Cash flows from investing activities:  
                            

                               
Purchases of available for sale securities  

   (103,466 )  —
   (5,270 )  —

   (108,736 ) 
Proceeds from available for sale securities  

   118,499 
   —

   953 
   —

   119,452 
   

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  
   —

   (1,929 )  (1,892 )  —
   (3,821 ) 

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment  
             1 

        1 
   

Acquisition of business  
   —

   —
   (447 )  

     (447 ) 
                               
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of 

continuing operations  
   15,033 

   (1,929 )  (6,655 )  —
   6,449 

   
Cash flows from financing activities:  

                            
Payments on long-term debt  

   (20,000 )  
               (20,000 ) 

Proceeds from stock options  
   432 

   —
   —

   —
   432 

   
Stock repurchase  

   (7,247 )  —
   —

   —
   (7,247 ) 

Payment of consent fee for senior notes indenture 
modification  

   (1,512 )  —
   —

   —
   (1,512 ) 

Tax benefit from exercise of incentive stock options  
   664 

   —
   —

   —
   664 

   
Payments of preferred stock dividend  

   (112 )  —
   —

   —
   (112 ) 

Net cash used in financing activities of continuing 
operations  

   (27,775 )  —
   —

   —
   (27,775 ) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  
   —

   —
   (974 )  —

   (974 ) 
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations  

   634 
   12 

   14 
   —

   660 
   

Net cash used by discontinued operations  
   —

   (21 )  —
   —

   (21 ) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  

   634 
   (9 )  14 

   —
   639 

   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  

   24,182 
   11 

   23,013 
   —

   47,206 
   



   

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  
   $ 24,816 

   $ 2 
   $ 23,027 

   $ —
   $ 47,845 

   



   
Supplemental Consolidating Condensed  

Cash Flows Statement  
   

   

 

      Nine Months Ended September 30, 2009  
   

                  Combined  
               

            Combined  
   Non-  

               
            Guarantor  

   Guarantor  
               

      Parent  
   Subsidiaries  

   Subsidiaries  
   Eliminations  

   Consolidated  
   

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities of 
continuing operations  

   $ 159 
   $ 6,093 

   $ 3,913 
   $ —

   $ 10,165 
   

Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued 
operations  

   —
   (187 )  —

   —
   (187 ) 

Cash flows from investing activities:  
                            

Purchases of available for sale securities  
   (108,880 )  —

   —
   —

   (108,880 ) 
                               
Proceeds from available for sale securities  

   106,000 
   —

   —
   —

   106,000 
   

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  
   —

   (6,152 )  (796 )  —
   (6,948 ) 

Net cash used in investing activities of continuing 
operations  

   (2,880 )  (6,152 )  (796 )  —
   (9,828 ) 

Cash flows from financing activities:  
                            

Proceeds from stock options  
   429 

   —
   —

   —
   429 

   
Stock repurchase  

   (11,245 )  —
   —

   —
   (11,245 ) 

Receipts from government grants  
   —

   225 
             225 

   
Payments of deferred financing fees  

   (340 )  —
   —

   —
   (340 ) 

Payments of preferred stock dividend  
   (112 )  —

   —
   —

   (112 ) 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities of 

continuing operations  
   (11,268 )  225 

   —
   —

   (11,043 ) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  

   —
   —

   723 
   —

   723 
   

Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations  
   (13,989 )  166 

   3,840 
   —

   (9,983 ) 
Net cash used in discontinued operations  

   —
   (187 )  —

   —
   (187 ) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  
   (13,989 )  (21 )  3,840 

   —
   (10,170 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  
   45,241 

   32 
   17,247 

   —
   62,520 

   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  

   $ 31,252 
   $ 11 

   $ 21,087 
   $ —

   $ 52,350 
   



 
Exhibit 99.5 

  
Carlisle Companies Incorporated  

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information  
   

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements have been prepared to reflect the acquisition of Hawk Corporation 
(“Hawk”) by Carlisle Companies Incorporated (“Carlisle”).  Prior to entering into the Merger Agreement, Carlisle formed a wholly-owned 
subsidiary, HC Corporation.  Upon the expiration of a tender offer for all outstanding shares of Hawk Class A common stock, HC Corporation 
purchased approximately 94% of the issued and outstanding shares of Hawk’s outstanding Class A common stock, including the associated 
Rights at a purchase price of $50.00 per share in cash.  The tender offer was followed by a merger of HC Corporation with and into Hawk in 
which Carlisle acquired all remaining shares of Hawk Class A common stock for $50.00 per share in cash.  At the closing of the merger Hawk 
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Carlisle (collectively the “acquisition”).  In addition to the consideration paid for Hawk’s outstanding 
Class A common stock, HC Corporation paid (1) each holder of Class A common stock options $50.00 in cash per option less the exercise price 
(all stock options vested immediately upon change-in-control), and (2) $1,000 in cash for each share of Hawk Series D preferred stock, resulting 
in a total estimated cash purchase price of approximately $414 million.  
   

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Earnings combine the historical consolidated statements of operations for 
Carlisle and Hawk, giving effect to the acquisition as if it had been consummated on January 1, 2009. The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed 
Combined Balance Sheet combines the historical consolidated balance sheets of Carlisle and Hawk, giving effect to the acquisition as if it had 
been consummated on September 30, 2010. You should read this unaudited combined pro forma financial information in conjunction with the:  
   

•    accompanying notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Information;  
   
•    separate unaudited historical financial statements of Carlisle as of and for the first nine months of 2010, included in the Carlisle 

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the third quarter of 2010  
   
•    separate historical financial statements of Carlisle as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009, included in the Carlisle Current 

Report on Form 8-K filed on December 3, 2010  
   
•    separate historical financial statements of Hawk as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009, which are included in this Current 

Report on Form 8-K at Exhibit 99.3; and  
   
•    separate unaudited historical financial statements of Hawk as of and for the first nine months of 2010, which are included in this 

Current Report on Form 8-K at Exhibit 99.4.  
   
The historical financial information of Carlisle and Hawk for the first nine months of 2010 is unaudited. The historical financial 

information of Carlisle and Hawk for the year ended December 31, 2009 is derived from the audited financial statements of Carlisle and Hawk, 
respectively, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The 
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is provided for informational purposes only. The pro forma information is not 
necessarily indicative of what the combined companies’ financial position or results of operations actually would have been had the acquisition 
been completed at the dates indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed  
   

 



   
combined financial information does not purport to project the future financial position or operating results of the combined company.  
   

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared using the acquisition method of accounting. 
Accordingly, the historical consolidated financial information has been adjusted to give effect to the impact of the consideration issued by 
Carlisle to Hawk’s shareholders in connection with the acquisition and the effect of debt financing necessary to complete the acquisition. In the 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet, the cash consideration transferred by Carlisle to Hawk’s stockholders to effect the 
acquisition has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon Carlisle management’s preliminary estimate of their 
respective fair values. Any differences between the cash consideration issued and the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired will be 
recorded as goodwill. The amounts allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined 
Financial Information are based on management’s preliminary internal valuation estimates. Definitive allocations will be performed and 
finalized based upon valuations and other studies that will be performed over the next several weeks. Accordingly, due to the recent nature of the 
acquisition the pro forma purchase price allocation adjustments are preliminary and have been made solely for the purpose of providing 
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and are subject to revision based on a final determination of fair value. Final 
determinations of fair value may differ materially from those presented herein. The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of 
Earnings also include certain purchase accounting adjustments, including items expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results, 
such as increased depreciation and amortization expense on acquired assets.  
   

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Earnings do not include the impacts of any revenue, cost or other operating 
synergies that may result from the acquisition. Carlisle currently expects the transaction to generate approximately $20 million of annual pre-tax 
cost savings by 2012.  The savings are expected to come from elimination of Hawk’s public company costs, operational synergies through 
implementation of the Carlisle Operating System, supply chain efficiencies and other administrative opportunities.  
   

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements also reflect the impact of Carlisle’s debt financing necessary to 
complete the acquisition of approximately $325 million (see Note (i) to the Unaudited Pro Form Condensed Balance Sheet for discussion of the 
assumed interest rate).  However, it does not reflect any other changes that might occur regarding Carlisle’s capital structure.  
   

Except as discussed in note (g) to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed 
Combined Financial Statements do not reflect any transaction costs or other nonrecurring charges expected to result from the acquisition. Such 
costs are required to be expensed as incurred by either Carlisle or Hawk under the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) §805-10-25-23. Carlisle and Hawk have just recently begun collecting information in order to formulate 
detailed integration plans to deliver planned synergies. However, at this time, the status of the integration plans and the acquisition-related costs, 
except as discussed in note (g) to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet, are too uncertain to include in the pro forma 
financial information.  
   

Based on Carlisle’s review of Hawk’s summary of significant accounting policies disclosed in Hawk’s financial statements, the nature and 
amount of any adjustments to the historical financial statements of Hawk to conform their accounting policies to those of Carlisle are not 
expected to be significant.  Further review of Hawk’s accounting policies and financial statements may result in required revisions to Hawk’s 
policies and classifications to conform to those of Carlisle.  
   

 



   
Carlisle Companies Incorporated  

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Earnings  
First Nine Months 2010  

   

   

 

            (a)  
               

      Carlisle  
   Hawk  

   Pro Forma  
   Carlisle  

   
(in millions, except per share amounts)  

   Historical  
   Historical  

   Adjustments  
   Pro Forma  

   
                          
Net Sales  

   $ 1,900.8 
   $ 185.2 

        $ 2,086.0 
   

                          
Cost of goods sold  

   1,501.6 
   126.3 

   $ 7.9 (b)  1,636.6 
   

                0.8 (c)  
     

Selling and administrative expenses  
   214.7 

   22.9 
        237.6 

   
Research and development expenses  

   16.8 
   3.7 

        20.5 
   

Other expense (income), net  
   (1.6 )  —

        (1.6 )  
                          
Earnings before interest and taxes  

   169.3 
   32.3 

        192.9 
   

Interest expense, net  
   5.1 

   4.7 
   (0.2 )(e)  12.0 

   
                2.4 (f)  

     
Earnings before income taxes from continuing operations  

   164.2 
   27.6 

        180.9 
   

Income tax expense  
   55.5 

   9.9 
   (4.2 )(g)  61.2 

   
                          
Income from continuing operations  

   $ 108.7 
   $ 17.7 

        $ 119.7 
   

                          
Common Stock Data:  

                       
                          
Weighted-average shares oustanding  

                       
Basic  

   60.9 
   7.8 

        60.9 (h) 
Diluted  

   61.6 
   8.1 

        61.6 (h) 
Earnings per share (from continuing operations)  

                       
Basic  

   $ 1.77 
   $ 2.25 

        $ 1.97 (h) 
Diluted  

   $ 1.75 
   $ 2.16 

        $ 1.94 (h) 



   
Carlisle Companies Incorporated  

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Earnings  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009  

   

   

   
Carlisle Companies Incorporated  

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed  
Combined Statements of Earnings  

   
(a)           Hawk Historical Presentation —Certain adjustments have been made to Hawk’s historical presentation in order to conform to Carlisle’s 

historical presentation. These adjustments had no impact on the historical income from continuing operations reported by Hawk.  
   
(b)          Cost of goods sold —Represents the pro forma adjustment required to reflect the net incremental amortization expense resulting from the 

fair valuation of Hawk’s amortizable intangible assets. As discussed in balance sheet note (e), the amount of this adjustment is based on 
preliminary estimates of the fair values of the related assets.  

   
(c)           Cost of goods sold —Represents the pro forma adjustment required to reflect the net incremental depreciation expense resulting from the 

fair valuation of Hawk’s property, plant and equipment. As discussed in balance sheet note (d), the amount of this adjustment is based on 
preliminary estimates of the fair values of the related assets.  

   
(d)          Cost of goods sold —Represents the pro forma adjustment required to amortize the fair valuation of Hawk’s inventory.  As discussed in 

balance sheet note (c), the amount of this adjustment is based on preliminary estimates of the fair values of the related assets.  
   
(e)           Interest expense, net —Represents the pro forma adjustment to interest expense to reflect the elimination of historical amortization of 

deferred debt costs (see balance sheet note (f)).  
   
(f)             Interest expense, net —Represents the pro forma adjustment to interest expense to reflect estimated interest to be paid on the additional 

financing incurred by Carlisle to complete the acquisition (see balance sheet note (i)).  
   
(g)          Income tax expense —Represents the pro forma tax effect of the above adjustments determined based on an estimated prospective statutory 

tax rate of approximately 38.5%. This estimate could change based on changes in the applicable tax rates and finalization of the combined 
company’s global tax position.  Carlisle’s historic income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2009, includes a nonrecurring tax 
benefit of approximately $19.6 million related to reversal of a deferred tax liability related to prior year foreign earnings that are expected to 
be permanently reinvested outside of the United States.  

   

            (a)  
               

      Carlisle  
   Hawk  

   Pro Forma  
   Carlisle  

   
(in millions, except per share amounts)  

   Historical  
   Historical  

   Adjustments  
   Pro Forma  

   
                          
Net Sales  

   $ 2,258.1 
   $ 172.4 

        $ 2,430.5 
   

                          
Cost of goods sold  

   1,767.8 
   124.9 

   $ 10.5 (b)  1,909.5 
   

                5.3 (d)  
     

                1.0 (c)  
     

Selling and administrative expenses  
   274.3 

   25.5 
        299.8 

   
Research and development expenses  

   16.4 
   4.7 

        21.1 
   

Gain related to fire settlement  
   (27.0 )  —

        (27.0 )  
Other expense (income), net  

   14.7 
   (1.3 )  

     13.4 
   

                          
Earnings before interest and taxes  

   211.9 
   18.6 

        213.7 
   

Interest expense, net  
   9.0 

   7.6 
   (0.3 )(e)  19.6 

   
                3.3 (f)  

     
Earnings before income taxes from continuing operations  

   202.9 
   11.0 

        194.1 
   

Income tax expense  
   47.6 

   4.5 
   (7.6 )(g)  44.5 

   
                          
Income from continuing operations  

   $ 155.3 
   $ 6.5 

        $ 149.6 
   

                          
Common Stock Data  

                       
                          
Weighted-average shares oustanding  

                       
Basic  

   60.6 
   8.2 

        60.6 (h) 
Diluted  

   61.2 
   8.5 

        61.2 (h) 
Earnings per share (from continuing operations)  

                       
Basic  

   $ 2.53 
   $ 0.77 

        $ 2.47 (h) 
Diluted  

   $ 2.51 
   $ 0.75 

        $ 2.44 (h) 



(h)          Earnings per share and shares outstanding —The pro forma weighted average number of basic and diluted shares outstanding reflect 
Carlisle’s weighted average number of basic and diluted shares of common stock outstanding for the first nine months of 2010 or the year 
ended December 31, 2009, as applicable.  As a result of the acquisition, Hawk’s outstanding shares are wholly owned by Carlisle and thus 
have not been included in the pro forma weighted average number of basic and diluted shares outstanding.  

   

 



   
Carlisle Companies Incorporated  

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet  
September 30, 2010  

   

   

 

            (a)  
               

      Carlisle  
   Hawk  

   Pro-Forma  
   Carlisle  

   
(in millions)  

   Historical  
   Historical  

   Adjustments  
   Pro Forma  

   
                          
Assets  

                       
                          
Cash and cash equivalents  

   $ 114.8 
   $ 47.8 

   $ (88.9 )(i)  $ 73.7 
   

Short-term investments  
   —

   25.4 
        25.4 

   
Receivables, net  

   395.9 
   42.5 

        438.4 
   

Inventory  
   382.5 

   38.1 
   5.3 (c)  425.9 

   
Other current assets  

   90.7 
   5.1 

        95.8 
   

                          
Property, plant and equipment, net  

   455.8 
   45.3 

   10.0 (d)  511.1 
   

Goodwill, net  
   450.6 

   —
   237.3 (b)  687.9 

   
Other intangibles  

   153.8 
   5.6 

   144.4 (e)  303.8 
   

Other non-current assets  
   27.2 

   6.5 
   (1.0 )(f)  28.1 

   
                (4.1 )(f)  

     
                (0.5 )(f)  

     
                          
Total Assets  

   $ 2,071.3 
   $ 216.3 

        $ 2,590.1 
   

                          
Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity  

                       
                          
Accounts payable  

   $ 181.4 
   $ 33.5 

        $ 214.9 
   

Other current liabilitites  
   178.1 

   21.7 
   $ 2.0 (m)  219.8 

   
                18.0 (g)  

     
Long-term debt  

   156.2 
   56.1 

   325.0 (i)  538.3 
   

                1.0 (h)  
     

Other non-current liabilities  
   236.9 

   16.6 
   58.5 (m)  308.9 

   
                3.0 (j)  

     
                (4.1 )(l)  

     
                (2.0 )(k) 

     
Shareholders’  Equity:  

                       
Preferred stock  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   
Common stock  

   78.7 
   0.1 

   (0.1 )(n) 78.7 
   

Paid-in-capital  
   89.3 

   55.0 
   (55.0 )(n) 89.3 

   
                          

Treasury stock  
   (222.1 )  (22.0 )  22.0 (n)  (222.1 ) 

Accum. other comprehensive loss  
   (34.8 )  (4.3 )  4.3 (n)  (34.8 ) 

Retained earnings  
   1,407.6 

   59.6 
   (59.6 )(n) 1,397.1 

   
                (10.5 )(g) 

     
                          
Total Liabilities & Shareholders’  Equity  

   $ 2,071.3 
   $ 216.3 

        $ 2,590.1 
   



   
Carlisle Companies Incorporated  

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed  
Combined Balance Sheet  

   
(a)           Hawk Historical Presentation —Certain adjustments have been made to Hawk’s historical presentation in order to conform to Carlisle’s 

historical presentation.  
   
(b)          Goodwill, net —The estimated total purchase price of the acquisition, based on the outstanding Class A Common Stock (including 10,000 

restricted shares that vested upon change-in-control), Stock Options and Series D Preferred Stock of Hawk as of September 30, 2010, is 
$413.9 million. The determination of the estimated purchase price and the excess of purchase price over the book values of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed is as follows ($ in millions, except share and per share amounts):  
   

   
Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total estimated purchase price, as shown in the table above, is allocated to Hawk’s net 
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of September 30, 2010. 
The fair value of these assets and liabilities is preliminary and is subject to change pending additional information that may come to our 
knowledge in the future. The preliminary adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as follows ($ in millions):  
   

   
Pursuant to ASC §350,  Intangibles—Goodwill and Other , goodwill is not amortized; rather, impairment tests are performed at least 
annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate an  

   

 

Hawk Class A Common Stock (7,756,763 outstanding at $50 per share)  
   $ 387.8 

   
Hawk Class A Common Stock Options (613,220 outstanding at $50 per share less exercise prices)  

   24.6 
   

Hawk Series D Preferred Stock (1,530 outstanding at $1,000 per share)  
   1.5 

   
           
Total estimated purchase price  

   413.9 
   

Less: book value of Hawk assets acquired and liabilities assumed  
   (88.4 ) 

           
Excess of purchase price over net book value of assets acquired  

   $ 325.5 
   

Excess of purchase price over net book value of assets acquired  
        $ 325.5 

   
                
Adjustments to goodwill related to:  

             
Inventory  

   (5.3 )  
     

Property, plant and equipment, net  
   (10.0 )  

     
Other intangible assets  

   (144.4 )  
     

Other noncurrent assets  
   5.6 

        
Other current liabilities  

   7.5 
        

Other noncurrent liabilities  
   (6.1 )  

     
Pension and postretirement benefit obligations, net  

   3.0 
        

Long-term debt  
   1.0 

        
Deferred tax liabilities  

   60.5 
        

                
Total adjustments  

        (88.2 )  
                
Total adjustment to goodwill  

        $ 237.3 
   



   
impairment may have occurred. If an impairment exists, the goodwill is immediately written down to its fair value through a current charge 
to earnings. Accordingly, the goodwill arising from the acquisition will be subject to an impairment test at least annually.  
   

(c)           Inventory —Represents the pro forma adjustment to reflect Hawk’s finished goods and work in progress inventory at net realizable value 
which requires the use of estimated selling prices less the sum of (i) costs of disposal and (ii) a reasonable profit allowance for the selling 
effort.  The work in progress inventory also includes an estimate of costs to complete the manufacturing process and a reasonable profit 
allowance for that process.  The final fair value determination will be based on selling prices and profit allowances in effect at the date of 
acquisition.  

   
(d)          Property, plant and equipment, net —Represents the pro forma adjustment to reflect Hawk’s property, plant and equipment at fair value 

using estimated replacement costs.  The final fair value determination will be based on the definitive valuations.  
   
(e)           Other intangibles —Represents the pro forma adjustment to record Hawk’s currently identified other intangible assets, which consist 

primarily of trademarks, tradenames, developed technology and customer lists,  at fair value.  Carlisle may identify other intangible assets 
that are considered to be in-process research and development (“IPR&D”).  Under ASC §350, IPR&D is recorded in purchase accounting at 
estimated fair value and is considered to be indefinite-lived until completed or abandoned.  If abandoned, the related asset is impaired 
through current earnings.  If completed the related asset is assigned a useful life and amortized accordingly.  The estimated fair values are 
based on preliminary information regarding discounted incremental after-tax cash flows or for certain assets the present value of license fees 
avoided by owning the asset.  The final fair value determination and identification of IPR&D will be based on definitive valuations and 
studies.  

   
(f)             Other noncurrent assets —Represents the pro forma adjustment to eliminate Hawk’s deferred debt costs of approximately $1.0 million, 

elimination of the cash surrender value of life insurance of approximately $0.5 million, which was assigned to a Hawk employee in 
connection with the acquisition, and elimination of the deferred compensation plan assets of approximately $4.1 million, which were paid to 
certain Hawk employees at closing of the acquisition (see note (l) below).  

   
(g)          Other current liabilities —Represents the pro forma adjustment related to costs incurred by Carlisle and Hawk that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition of approximately $8.5 million, of which $3.7 million will be expensed in the post-combination financial statements and 
therefore has been reflected a reduction in Retained earnings, and certain payments to be made to Hawk employees, including certain 
change-in-control payments triggered as a result of the acquisition, of approximately $9.5 million, of which approximately $6.8 million will 
be expensed in the post-combination financial statements and therefore has been reflected as a reduction in Retained earnings.  

   
(h)          Long-term debt— Represents the pro forma adjustment required to record Hawk’s long-term debt at estimated fair value and elimination of 

the unamortized consent payment. The fair value adjustment will be amortized through interest expense over the remaining life of the debt. 
The final fair value determination will be based on prevailing market interest rates, adjusted for estimated issuance costs, at the completion 
of the acquisition and the necessary adjustment will be amortized as a reduction (in the case of a premium to book value) or an increase (in 
the case of a discount to book value) to interest expense over the remaining life of the debt.  Carlisle intends to exercise its right to call the  

   

 



   
Hawk Senior Notes in the first quarter of 2011 at a price of 103.281.  Any difference between the accreted fair value of the Senior Notes and 
the price paid to redeem will be recorded as an extinguishment gain or loss in the post-combination financial statements.  

   
(i)              Long-term debt —Represents the pro forma adjustment to reflect debt financing necessary to complete the acquisition.  Carlisle utilized 

approximately $88.9 million of its cash on hand with the remaining portion of the purchase price financed through its committed revolving 
credit facility.  The assumed rate of interest is approximately 1% and is based on the rate in effect on Carlisle’s revolving credit facility as of 
September 30, 2010.  The actual interest rate to be paid will be based on a variety of factors including prevailing LIBOR rates and Carlisle’s 
debt ratings.   A 1/8% increase or decrease in the assumed interest rate will not have a significant impact on the amount of interest expected 
to be paid.  

   
(j)              Pension and postretirement benefit obligations —Represents the pro forma adjustment required to record Hawk’s pension and 

postretirement benefit obligations at the difference between the estimated projected benefit obligations, using current discount rates and 
estimated returns on plan assets, and the estimated fair values of any related plan assets as of September 30, 2010. The final determination of 
the pension and postretirement benefit obligations adjustment may differ materially, largely due to changes in discount rates and expected 
return on plan assets through December 1, 2010 and the potential conforming of certain Carlisle and Hawk assumptions surrounding the 
determination of these obligations.  

   
(k)           Other noncurrent liabilities —Represents the pro forma adjustment required to eliminate Hawk’s historical deferred rent liability.  Under 

the acquisition method of accounting, balance sheet amounts that are associated with leases that serve to record rent expense on a straight-
line basis (whether related to lease escalation clauses, rent holidays or lease incentives) do not carry forward into the post-combination 
financial statements.  

   
(l)              Other noncurrent liabilities —Represents the pro forma adjustment required to reflect the elimination of the deferred compensation plan 

liability of approximately $4.1 million, which was settled with certain Hawk employees at closing of the acquisition (see note (f) above).  
   
(m)        Deferred income taxes —The net current deferred tax liability represents the estimated impact on the allocation of purchase price to current 

assets and liabilities. The net non-current deferred tax liability represents the estimated impact on the allocation of purchase price to 
noncurrent assets and liabilities. These estimates are based on an estimated prospective statutory tax rate of approximately 38.5% and could 
change based on changes in the applicable tax rates and finalization of the combined company’s tax position.  

   
(n)          Shareholders’ equity— Represents pro forma adjustments to eliminate the historical shareholders’ equity of Hawk.  
   

 


